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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended June 30, 2012

or

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

Commission file number: 000-51237

FREIGHTCAR AMERICA, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
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Delaware 25-1837219
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

Two North Riverside Plaza, Suite 1300

Chicago, Illinois 60606
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(800) 458-2235

(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    YES  x    NO  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    YES  x    NO  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer�, �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.:

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer   ¨ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    YES  ¨    NO  x

As of July 24, 2012, there were 11,978,367 shares of the registrant�s common stock outstanding.
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PART I � FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

FreightCar America, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)

June 30,
2012

December 31,
2011

(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 107,442 $ 101,870
Restricted cash 17,004 1,815
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $29 and $19, respectively 7,249 10,125
Inventories 72,592 72,877
Inventory on lease 23,061 �  
Other current assets 6,056 2,618
Deferred income taxes, net 10,982 10,982

Total current assets 244,386 200,287

Property, plant and equipment, net 36,848 35,984
Railcars available for lease, net 44,042 54,746
Goodwill 22,128 22,128
Deferred income taxes, net 19,067 28,150
Other long-term assets 3,783 4,168

Total assets $ 370,254 $ 345,463

Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity
Current liabilities
Account and contractual payables $ 37,663 $ 28,110
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 5,152 5,611
Accrued postretirement benefits 5,174 5,174
Accrued warranty 7,773 7,795
Customer deposits 18,798 17,964
Other current liabilities 7,685 5,044

Total current liabilities 82,245 69,698
Accrued pension costs 12,371 14,202
Accrued postretirement benefits, less current portion 58,894 59,887
Accrued taxes and other long-term liabilities 4,296 4,342

Total liabilities 157,806 148,129

Stockholders� equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized (100,000 shares each designated as Series A
voting and Series B non-voting); 0 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 �  �  

127 127
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Common stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized, 12,731,678 shares issued at June 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011
Additional paid in capital 99,825 100,204
Treasury stock, at cost; 753,311 and 780,320 shares at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively (34,616) (35,904) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (21,957) (22,302) 
Retained earnings 169,069 155,209

Total stockholders� equity 212,448 197,334

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 370,254 $ 345,463

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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FreightCar America, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues $ 181,206 $ 97,583 $ 400,272 $ 169,823
Cost of sales 164,163 93,618 359,498 163,616

Gross profit 17,043 3,965 40,774 6,207
Selling, general and administrative expenses 7,642 6,870 16,335 12,867
Gain on sale of railcars available for lease (14) (975) (962) (975) 

Operating income (loss) 9,415 (1,930) 25,401 (5,685) 
Interest expense, net (96) (54) (186) (117) 

Income (loss) before income taxes 9,319 (1,984) 25,215 (5,802) 
Income tax provision (benefit) 3,756 (2,162) 9,918 (4,708) 

Net income (loss) 5,563 178 15,297 (1,094) 
Less: Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest in JV �  (6) �  12

Net income (loss) attributable to FreightCar America $ 5,563 $ 184 $ 15,297 $ (1,106) 

Net income (loss) per common share attributable to FreightCar America
� basic $ 0.47 $ 0.02 $ 1.28 $ (0.09) 

Net income (loss) per common share attributable to FreightCar America
� diluted $ 0.46 $ 0.02 $ 1.28 $ (0.09) 

Weighted average common shares outstanding � basic 11,931,565 11,914,883 11,927,992 11,911,469

Weighted average common shares outstanding � diluted 11,983,901 11,994,460 11,992,808 11,911,469

Dividends declared per common share $ 0.06 $ �  $ 0.12 $ �  

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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FreightCar America, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
June  30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Net income (loss) $ 5,563 $ 178 $ 15,297 $ (1,094) 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Pension liability adjustments, net of tax 78 57 156 114
Postretirement liability adjustments, net of tax 94 82 189 165
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments �  (2) �  (2) 

Other comprehensive income 172 137 345 277

Comprehensive income (loss) 5,735 315 15,642 (817) 
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest �  (6) �  12

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to FreightCar America $ 5,735 $ 321 $ 15,642 $ (829) 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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FreightCar America, Inc.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except for share data)

FreightCar America Stockholders

Common Stock Additional Treasury Stock

Accumulated

Other Total

Shares Amount
Paid In
Capital Shares Amount

Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings

Noncontrolling
Interest

Stockholders�
Equity

Balance, December 31, 2010 12,731,678 $ 127 $ 98,722 (790,486) $ (36,539) $ (20,000) $ 150,274 $ (4) $ 192,580

Net( loss) income �  �  �  �  �  �  (1,106) 12 (1,094) 
Other comprehensive income �  �  �  �  �  277 �  �  277
Restricted stock awards �  �  (792) 17,147 792 �  �  �  �  
Employee restricted stock settlement �  �  �  (2,186) (65) �  �  �  (65)
Stock-based compensation expense
recognized �  �  1,093 �  �  �  �  �  1,093

Balance, June 30, 2011 12,731,678 $ 127 $ 99,023 (775,525) $ (35,812) $ (19,723) $ 149,168 $ 8 $ 192,791

Balance, December 31, 2011 12,731,678 $ 127 $ 100,204 (780,320) $ (35,904) $ (22,302) $ 155,209 $ �  $ 197,334

Net income �  �  �  �  �  �  15,297 �  15,297
Other comprehensive income �  �  �  �  �  345 �  �  345
Restricted stock awards �  �  (1,331) 28,946 1,331 �  �  �  �  
Employee restricted stock settlement �  �  �  (1,937) (43) �  �  �  (43)
Stock-based compensation expense
recognized �  �  952 �  �  �  �  �  952
Cash dividends �  �  �  �  �  �  (1,437) �  (1,437) 

Balance, June 30, 2012 12,731,678 $ 127 $ 99,825 (753,311) $ (34,616) $ (21,957) $ 169,069 $ �  $ 212,448

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
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FreightCar America, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2012 2011
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 15,297 $ (1,094) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 4,165 4,458
Gain on sale of railcars available for lease (962) (975) 
Other non-cash items 609 303
Deferred income taxes 8,868 (4,827) 
Stock-based compensation expense recognized 952 1,093
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,876 (73,514) 
Inventories 304 (6,900) 
Inventory on lease (23,061) (7,062) 
Other current assets (2,992) 2,685
Account and contractual payables 9,178 17,467
Accrued payroll and employee benefits (459) (55) 
Income taxes receivable (71) 416
Accrued warranty (22) (1,096) 
Customer deposits and other current liabilities 2,851 56,895
Deferred revenue, non-current (182) (272) 
Accrued pension costs and accrued postretirement benefits (2,479) (4,285) 

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 14,872 (16,763) 

Cash flows from investing activities
Restricted cash deposits (15,525) �  
Restricted cash withdrawals 336 119
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, railcars available for lease and assets held for sale 10,526 6,531
Purchase price adjustment for business acquired �  (166) 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3,157) (367) 

Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities (7,820) 6,117

Cash flows from financing activities
Employee restricted stock settlement (43) (65) 
Cash dividends paid to stockholders (1,437) �  

Net cash flows used in financing activities (1,480) (65) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,572 (10,711) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 101,870 61,780

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 107,442 $ 51,069
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Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 125 $ 104

Income taxes paid $ 1,147 $ �  

Income tax refunds received $ �  $ 128

Non-cash transactions:
Lease incentive for leasehold improvements $ 624 $ �  

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).

7

Edgar Filing: FreightCar America, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 10



Table of Contents

FreightCar America, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Note 1 � Description of the Business

FreightCar America, Inc. (�America�) operates primarily in North America through its direct and indirect subsidiaries, JAC Operations, Inc.
(�Operations�), Johnstown America Corporation (�JAC�), Freight Car Services, Inc. (�FCS�), JAIX Leasing Company (�JAIX�), JAC Patent Company
(�JAC Patent�), FreightCar Roanoke, Inc. (�FCR�), Titagarh FreightCar Private Limited, Inc. (�JV�), FreightCar Mauritius Ltd. (�Mauritius�),
FreightCar Rail Services, LLC (�FCRS�) and FreightCar Short Line, Inc. (�Short Line�) (herein collectively referred to as the �Company�),
manufactures railroad freight cars, supplies railcar parts, leases freight cars and provides railcar maintenance, repairs and management. The
Company designs and builds coal cars, bulk commodity cars, flat cars, mill gondola cars, intermodal cars, coil steel cars and motor vehicle
carriers. The Company is headquartered in Chicago, Illinois and has facilities in the following locations: Clinton, Indiana; Danville, Illinois;
Grand Island, Nebraska; Hastings, Nebraska; Johnstown, Pennsylvania; Lakewood, Colorado; and Roanoke, Virginia.

The Company�s operations comprise two reportable segments, Manufacturing and Services. The Company and its direct and indirect subsidiaries
are all Delaware corporations except JV, which is incorporated in India, Mauritius, which is incorporated in Mauritius, and FCRS, which is a
Delaware limited liability company. The Company�s direct and indirect subsidiaries are all wholly owned except JV, in which the Company
(through Mauritius) has a 51% ownership interest.

On August 1, 2011, the Company terminated the term of the Joint Venture Agreement (the �JV Agreement�) that it entered into on January 22,
2008 with Titagarh Wagons Limited (�Titagarh�) to develop railcars for the Indian market. Pursuant to the JV Agreement, the Company and
Titagarh formed JV to initially develop prototype cars based on the Company�s designs and to assess the market opportunity for railcar
production in India. On August 1, 2011, due to Titagarh�s failure to cure its non-compliance with the JV Agreement, the Company notified
Titagarh that the Company was exercising its unilateral right under the JV Agreement to terminate the term of the JV Agreement, effective
immediately and as a result the net book value of JV on the Company�s financial statements, which was not material, was written down to zero in
2011.

Note 2 � Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of America, Operations, JAC, FCS, JAIX, JAC
Patent, FCR, JV, Mauritius, FCRS and Short Line. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
financial information has been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(�GAAP�) and rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the �SEC�) for interim financial reporting. The preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. The results of operations for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. The accompanying interim financial
information is unaudited; however, the Company believes the financial information reflects all adjustments (consisting of items of a normal
recurring nature) necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with GAAP. The 2011
year-end balance sheet data was derived from the audited financial statements as of December 31, 2011. Certain information and note
disclosures normally included in the Company�s annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted.
These interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements contained in the Company�s annual report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Note 3 � Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued changes to Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC�) 220, Presentation
of Comprehensive Income, to require companies to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income either in a single
continuous statement of comprehensive income or two separate but consecutive statements. The changes eliminated the option to present
components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders� equity. The items that must be reported in other
comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income were not changed. The amended
guidance was effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, with earlier adoption permitted. The Company
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retrospectively adopted these changes on January 1, 2012 and management elected to use the two-statement option. Other than the change in
presentation, the adoption of the changes to ASC 220 had no impact on the Company�s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Note 4 � Segment Information

The Company�s operations comprise two reportable segments, Manufacturing and Services. The Company�s Manufacturing segment includes new
railcar manufacturing, used railcar sales, railcar leasing and major railcar rebuilds. The Company�s Services segment includes general railcar
repair and maintenance, inspections, parts sales and railcar fleet management services. Corporate includes selling, general and administrative
expenses not related to production of goods and services, retiree pension and other postretirement benefit costs related to closed facilities, and all
other non-operating activity.

Segment operating income is an internal performance measure used by the Company�s Chief Operating Decision Maker to assess the
performance of each segment in a given period. Segment operating income includes all external revenues attributable to the segments as well as
operating costs and income that management believes are directly attributable to the current production of goods and services. The Company�s
management reporting package does not include interest revenue, interest expense or income taxes allocated to individual segments and these
items are not considered as a component of segment operating income. Segment assets represent operating assets and exclude intersegment
receivables, deferred tax assets and income tax receivables. The Company does not allocate cash and cash equivalents to its operating segments
as the Company�s treasury function is managed at the corporate level. Intersegment revenues were not material in any period presented.

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Revenues:
Manufacturing $ 171,771 $ 88,291 $ 382,220 $ 151,460
Services 9,435 9,292 18,052 18,363

Consolidated revenues $ 181,206 $ 97,583 $ 400,272 $ 169,823

Operating income (loss):
Manufacturing $ 15,253 $ 2,107 $ 37,942 $ 2,323
Services 726 1,161 1,379 2,256
Corporate (6,564) (5,198) (13,920) (10,264) 

Consolidated operating income (loss) $ 9,415 $ (1,930) $ 25,401 $ (5,685) 

Depreciation and amortization:
Manufacturing $ 1,173 $ 1,563 $ 2,450 $ 2,963
Services 551 498 1,045 963
Corporate 344 273 670 532

Consolidated depreciation and amortization $ 2,068 $ 2,334 $ 4,165 $ 4,458

Capital expenditures:
Manufacturing $ 1,362 $ 135 $ 1,788 $ 135
Services 486 �  1,005 �  
Corporate 145 47 364 232

Consolidated capital expenditures $ 1,993 $ 182 $ 3,157 $ 367
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June 30,
2012

December 31,
2011

Assets:
Manufacturing $ 172,259 $ 167,972
Services 26,460 25,430
Corporate 140,285 112,177

Total operating assets 339,004 305,579
Consolidated income taxes receivable 1,201 752
Consolidated deferred income taxes, current 10,982 10,982
Consolidated deferred income taxes, long-term 19,067 28,150

Consolidated assets $ 370,254 $ 345,463

Note 5 � Fair Value Measurements

The Company�s current investment policy is to invest in cash and securities backed by the U.S. government. The carrying amounts of cash
equivalents approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

The following table sets forth by level within the ASC 820 fair value hierarchy the Company�s financial assets and liabilities that were recorded
at fair value on a recurring basis.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements As of June 30, 2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

ASSETS:
Cash equivalents $ 93,904 $ �  $ �  $ 93,904

Recurring Fair Value Measurements As of December 31, 2011

Level 1
Level
2

Level
3 Total

ASSETS:
Cash equivalents $ 77,004 $ �  $ �  $ 77,004

Note 6 � Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of first-in, first-out cost or market and include material, labor and manufacturing overhead. The components
of inventories are as follows:

June 30,
2012

December 31,
2011

Work in progress $ 64,653 $ 66,713
Finished new railcars 3,132 1,061
Used railcars acquired upon trade-in 105 558
Parts and service inventory 4,702 4,545

Total inventories $ 72,592 $ 72,877

Note 7 � Leased Railcars

Leased railcars at June 30, 2012 included Railcars available for lease classified as long-term assets of $44,042 (cost of $48,234 and accumulated
depreciation of $4,192) and Inventory on lease of $23,061. Leased railcars at December 31, 2011 included Railcars available for lease classified
as long-term assets of $54,746 (cost of $59,217 and accumulated depreciation of $4,471). The Company�s lease utilization rate for railcars in its
lease fleet, including those classified as Inventory on lease and those classified as Railcars available for lease was 100% at each of June 30,
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2012 and December 31, 2011.

Leased railcars at June 30, 2012 are subject to lease agreements with external customers with terms of up to nine years and are accounted for as
operating leases.
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Future minimum rental revenues on leased railcars at June 30, 2012 are as follows:

Six months ending December 31, 2012 $ 3,555
Year ending December 31, 2013 6,588
Year ending December 31, 2014 5,879
Year ending December 31, 2015 4,187
Year ending December 31, 2016 3,825
Thereafter 3,431

$ 27,465

Note 8 � Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

June 30,
2012

December 31,
2011

Buildings and improvements $ 25,368 $ 23,957
Machinery and equipment 30,146 29,169
Software 8,382 8,352
Leasehold improvements 5,565 4,726

Cost of buildings and improvements, leasehold improvements,
machinery, equipment and software 69,461 66,204
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (36,289) (33,269) 

Buildings and improvements, leasehold improvements, machinery,
equipment and software, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization 33,172 32,935
Land (including easements) 2,203 2,203
Construction in process 1,473 846

Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 36,848 $ 35,984

Note 9 � Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets consist of the following:

June 30,
2012

December 31,
2011

Patents $ 13,097 $ 13,097
Accumulated amortization (10,672) (10,376) 

Patents, net of accumulated amortization 2,425 2,721

Customer-related intangibles 1,300 1,300
Accumulated amortization (139) (64) 
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Customer-related intangibles, net of accumulated amortization 1,161 1,236

Total amortizing intangibles $ 3,586 $ 3,957

Manufacturing segment goodwill $ 21,521 $ 21,521
Services segment goodwill 607 607

Total goodwill $ 22,128 $ 22,128

Patents are being amortized on a straight-line method over their remaining legal life from the date of acquisition. The weighted average
remaining life of the Company�s patents is 5 years. Amortization expense related to patents, which is included in cost of sales, was $148 for each
of the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, and $295 for each of the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. Customer-related
intangibles are being amortized from the date of acquisition and have a remaining life of 18 years. Amortization expense related to customer
intangibles, which is included in selling, general and administrative expenses, was $37 and $10 for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and
2011, respectively, and $74 and $21 for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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The estimated intangible amortization at June 30, 2012 is as follows:

Six months ending December 31, 2012 $ 367
Year ending December 31, 2013 739
Year ending December 31, 2014 744
Year ending December 31, 2015 720
Year ending December 31, 2016 476
Thereafter 540

$ 3,586

The Company evaluates its patent and customer-related intangibles for impairment at least annually and has identified no impairment during
2012 or 2011.

The Company performs the goodwill impairment test required by ASC 350, Intangibles � Goodwill and Other, as of January 1 of each year.
Management estimates the valuation of the Company (which consists of two reporting units) using a combination of methods, appropriate to the
circumstances, including discounted future cash flows, and the Company�s market capitalization. There was no adjustment required based on the
annual impairment tests for 2012 or 2011.

Note 10 � Product Warranties

Warranty terms are based on the negotiated railcar sales contracts and typically are for periods of one to five years. The changes in the warranty
reserve for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, are as follows:

Three Months Ended
June  30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Balance at the beginning of the period $ 7,757 $ 7,085 $ 7,795 $ 7,932
Provision for warranties issued during the period 848 377 1,838 615
Reductions for payments, cost of repairs and other (131) (53) (218) (595) 
Adjustments to prior warranties (701) (573) (1,642) (1,116) 

Balance at the end of the period $ 7,773 $ 6,836 $ 7,773 $ 6,836

Note 11 � Revolving Credit Facility

On July 29, 2010, the Company entered into a $30,000 senior secured revolving credit facility pursuant to a Loan and Security Agreement dated
as of July 29, 2010 (the �Revolving Loan Agreement�) among America, JAC, FCS, Operations and FCR, as borrowers (collectively, the
�Borrowers�), and Fifth Third Bank, as lender. The proceeds of the revolving credit facility can be used for general corporate purposes, including
working capital. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had no borrowings and therefore had $30,000 available under the
revolving credit facility. The Revolving Loan Agreement also contains a sub-facility for letters of credit not to exceed $20,000. The Company
had no outstanding letters of credit under the revolving credit facility as of each of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

The Revolving Loan Agreement has a term ending on July 29, 2013 and revolving loans outstanding thereunder will bear interest at a rate of
LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 2.50% or at prime, as selected by the Company. The Company is required to pay a non-utilization fee of
0.35% on the unused portion of the revolving loan commitment. Borrowings under the Revolving Loan Agreement are secured by the Company�s
accounts receivable, inventory and certain other assets of the Company, and borrowing availability is tied to a borrowing base of eligible
accounts receivable and inventory. The Revolving Loan Agreement has both affirmative and negative covenants, including, without limitation, a
minimum tangible net worth covenant and limitations on indebtedness, liens and investments. The minimum tangible net worth covenant in the
Revolving Loan Agreement effectively limits potential dividends to $67,847 as of June 30, 2012. The Revolving Loan Agreement also provides
for customary events of default. As of June 30, 2012, the Company was in compliance with all of the covenants contained in the agreement.
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Note 12 � Stock-Based Compensation

On January 12, 2012, the Company awarded 179,500 non-qualified stock options to certain employees of the Company pursuant to its 2005
Long Term Incentive Plan. The stock options will vest in three equal annual installments beginning on January 12, 2013 and have a contractual
term of 10 years. The exercise price of each option is $23.40, which was the fair market value of the Company�s stock on the date of the grant.
The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense based on the fair value of the award on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
option valuation model. The estimated fair value of $11.23 per option will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required
to provide service in exchange for the award, which is usually the vesting period. The following assumptions were used to value the January 12,
2012 stock options: expected lives of the options of 6 years; expected volatility of 50.86%; risk-free interest rate of 0.84%; and expected
dividend yield of 0%.

Expected life in years was determined using the simplified method. The Company believes that it is appropriate to use the simplified method in
determining the expected life for options granted after 2007 because the Company does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a
reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term for stock options awarded after 2007 and due to the limited number of stock option
grants to date. Expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of the Company�s stock. The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S.
Treasury bond rate for the expected life of the option. The expected dividend yield was based on the latest annualized dividend rate and the
current market price of the underlying common stock on the date of the grant.

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, the Company awarded 15,650 shares of restricted stock to certain employees of the Company
pursuant to its 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan. Each restricted stock award will vest in three equal annual installments beginning on the first
anniversary of the award, with continued vesting of the award subject to the recipient�s continued employment with the Company. Stock
compensation expense will be recognized over the vesting period based on the fair market value of the stock on the date of the award, calculated
as the average of the high and low trading prices for the Company�s common stock on the award date.

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, the Company awarded 13,296 shares of restricted stock to certain individuals for service on the
Company�s board of directors pursuant to its 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan. Each restricted stock award will vest on the earlier of May 24,
2013 or the last trading day before the date of the Company�s 2013 annual meeting of stockholders. Stock compensation expense will be
recognized over the vesting period based on the fair market value of the stock on the date of the award, calculated as the average of the high and
low trading prices for the Company�s common stock on the award date.

As of June 30, 2012, there was $3,173 of unearned compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock awards, which will be
recognized over the remaining requisite service period of 35 months.

Note 13 � Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has qualified, defined benefit pension plans that were established to cover certain employees. The Company also provides certain
postretirement health care benefits for certain of its salaried and hourly retired employees. Generally, employees may become eligible for health
care benefits if they retire after attaining specified age and service requirements. These benefits are subject to deductibles, co-payment
provisions and other limitations.

A substantial portion of the Company�s postretirement benefit plan obligation relates to a settlement with the union representing employees at the
Company�s and its predecessors� Johnstown manufacturing facilities. The terms of that settlement require the Company to pay until November 30,
2012 certain monthly amounts toward the cost of retiree health care coverage. The Company�s current postretirement benefit plan obligation
assumes for accounting purposes a continuation of those monthly payments indefinitely after November 30, 2012 (as would be permitted under
the settlement). However, the Company�s postretirement benefit plan obligation could significantly increase or decrease if payments were to
cease, if litigation should ensue or if the parties should agree on a modified settlement.

Generally, contributions to the plans are not less than the minimum amounts required under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 (�ERISA�) and not more than the maximum amount that can be deducted for federal income tax purposes. The plans� assets are held by
independent trustees and consist primarily of mutual fund securities.
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The components of net periodic benefit cost (benefit) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, are as follows:

Three Months Ended
June  30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Pension Benefits
Interest cost $ 725 $ 784 $ 1,450 $ 1,568
Expected return on plan assets (862) (949) (1,724) (1,898) 
Amortization of unrecognized net loss 126 91 252 182

$ (11) $ (74) $ (22) $ (148) 

Three Months Ended
June  30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
Postretirement
Benefit Plan
Service cost $ 16 $ 14 $ 32 $ 28
Interest cost 755 803 1,510 1,606
Amortization
of prior service
cost

60 60 120 120
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Jeffrey Roberts.  In 2004 Mr. Roberts co-founded the Vermont Institute for Artisan Cheese at the University of Vermont where he continues to serve as a principal consultant.  In 2007, he authored the “Atlas of American Cheese” a compendium of farmstead cheese producers throughout the United States.   Mr. Roberts became a director of Artisanal in January 2008.  From 2003 to the present Mr. Roberts has been a director, Treasurer and Northeast Regional Governor of Slow Food USA, a non-profit educational organization devoted to preserving traditional food ways and environmental sustainability.  Since 2003 he has been a director of the Vermont Arts Council and from 1998 to 2004 served on the Vermont Fresh Network board.  From 2003 to 2007 he has provided consulting services to the US National Park Service and in 2007 authored a compendium of national parks and their products.  Mr. Roberts is a frequent speaker on artisan cheese, sustainable agriculture, and the working landscape.

Thomas Thornton.  Mr. Thornton became a director in January 2008.  From 1990 to 1997 Mr. Thornton served as Chief Executive Officer of Dean & Deluca in New York, NY. From 1999 to 2003 he served as CEO of Carmine’s (a South Florida Specialty Food and Restaurant Chain), and from 1983 to 1987 he served as CEO at Orchard Supply Hardware in San Jose, CA. Mr. Thornton has consulted for Lindt Chocolates, Godiva Chocolates, Ghirardelli’s, and other entrepreneurial and retail chains.

There are no family relationships among the Artisanal's directors or among its executive officers, other than Janet L. Dowe, Esq. the spouse of Artisanal's Chief Executive Officer who oversees administrative and legal matters for the company. To the best of our  knowledge, none of our directors or its executive officers have been involved in any legal proceedings or engaged in any activity over the past five years that would be deemed material in evaluating the ability or integrity of our directors or executive officer or for which disclosure must be made in this report.

There has been no material change to the procedures by which stock holders may recommend nominees to Artisanal’s board of directors.

Committees

Our Board of Directors has an Audit and Executive Compensation Committee, a Nominating Committee and a Business Development Committee.  Messrs. Lavin and DeMatteis serve on both the Auditing and Compensation Committees.  The Business Development Committee consists of Messrs. Moriarty, Thornton, Roberts, and Dowe.  The Nominating Committee consists of Messrs. Lavin, DeMatteis, Nesbett and Dowe.  Mr. Lavin serves as our financial and corporate governance expert on the Audit Committee.  He is an independent director as defined under the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market.

William K. Lavin, Keith DeMatteis, Donald Moriarty, John Nesbitt, Jeffrey Roberts and Thomas Thornton are “independent” directors under the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market. Daniel W. Dowe is not “independent” under the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth all of the compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to (i) each individual serving as our principal executive officer during our last completed fiscal year; and (ii) each other individual who served as an executive officer at the conclusion of the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 and who received in excess of $100,000 in the form of total compensation during such fiscal year:
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Name and Principal Position
Year Salary

($)
Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards
 ($)

Nonequity
Incentive
Plan

Compen-
sation
($)

Non-
Qualified
Deferred

Compen-sation
Earnings ($)

All Other
Compensation

($)

Total
Compensation

($)

Daniel W. Dowe
Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer
President

Fiscal
2011

Fiscal
2010

200,000

200,000

0

0

0

318,750(1)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

200,000

518,750

(1)  In February 2010, Artisanal issued 6,375,000 shares of common stock to Mr. Dowe and cancelled his existing stock option agreement in connection with an amended and restated employment agreement which provides, in pertinent part, for a term extension of three years.  The stock is fully vested but he is restricted from selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of more than 2,125,000 shares in each successive twelve month period commencing February 22, 2010.

Option Grants, Exercises, and Values

As of February 29, 2012, our directors held a total of 550,000 common stock options having an exercise price of $.30 per share and an expiration date of September 21, 2014.

Employment Agreements

 Pursuant to an amended and restated employment agreement entered with Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Daniel W. Dowe, in February 2010, he is to receive:

• A base salary of $200,000;

• Annual bonus determined by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion;

• Participation in employee medical, health, pension, welfare, and insurance benefit plans as maintained by Artisanal from time to time
for the general benefit of our executive employees, as well as all other benefits and perquisites as are made generally available to our
executive employees;

• At least four weeks annual vacation whereby no more than 10 consecutive days may be taken at a time; and

• Monthly parking allowance of no greater than five hundred dollars per month ($500.00), reimbursement for corporate use of his
personal automobile for business development purposes only (not including daily commutation) at a rate of $.30 per mile, and
reimbursement for all reasonable and necessary business expenses incurred by Executive in the ordinary course of business on behalf
of the company.

Mr. Dowe’s employment agreement shall continue until February 22, 2013.

A five-year stock option previously granted to Mr. Dowe under his original employment agreement in 2007 was cancelled and, in exchange, Artisanal issued to Mr. Dowe 6,375,000 shares of common stock.  The stock is fully vested but he is restricted from selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of more than 2,125,000 shares of said stock in each successive twelve month period commencing February 22, 2010.
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We may only terminate Mr. Dowe’s employment with cause or Mr. Dowe may terminate his employment if Artisanal, acting through its board of directors, shall resolve to either: (a) make a material change in his title, his responsibilities or his reporting status, or (b) enter into a corporate transaction with another person or legal entity (affiliated or non-affiliated) that results in a "Change of Control" (as that term is defined in his agreement).

If Mr. Dowe’s employment is terminated for cause, he will receive payment of his base salary, bonus and benefits for the next succeeding three months of the agreement after which the agreement will be null and void.  He may continue to participate in our employee benefit plans to the extent permitted by and in accordance with the terms thereof or as otherwise required by law.

If Mr. Dowe terminates his employment because of a material change in his title, responsibilities or his reporting status or upon a Change of Control, he is entitled to receive within 20 days of submitting a written termination notice, full payment of his base salary, bonus and benefits for the duration of his contract.  For future calendar periods where his bonus has not been calculated, the bonus will be the greater of $100,000 or 120% of the previous year’s bonus.

In the event that Mr. Dowe’s employment terminates for reason of his death or permanent irreversible medical disability, Mr. Dowe, or his executive or estate, shall be entitled to receive, within three months of termination, the full compensation that would have been payable to Mr. Dowe for the remaining term of his employment agreement.  In this case, any bonus shall be based on the last bonus paid to Mr. Dowe as increased by at least ten percent (10%) each year unless our board of directors shall approve a greater sum.

Compensation of Directors

Five of the six non-management directors each received 110,000 common stock options during fiscal 2012 to replace options they had previously held, but which had expired in February 2011.  Mr. Moriarty received 110,000 shares of common stock upon his appointment to the board of directors during fiscal year 2010.  Each of the six non-management directors received 50,000 shares of common stock in exchange for their agreement to serve as directors in fiscal 2012.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the shares of common stock beneficially owned or deemed to be beneficially owned as of February 29, 2012, by (i) each person who we know beneficially owns more than 5% of our common stock, (ii) each of our directors, (iii) each of the executive officers named in the summary compensation table, and (iv) all directors and executive officers as a group.

Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on the information furnished to us, that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws. Except as noted below, the beneficial owners named in the table below have the following address: c/o Artisanal Brands, Inc., 483 Tenth Avenue, 2nd Floor, New York, NY 10018.   

The number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person have been calculated on a fully diluted basis.,
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial
Ownership

Percent of
Class (1)

Daniel W. Dowe, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 5,525,000    (2) 10.1%
Keith DeMatteis, Director 3,333,718    (3) 6.1%
William K. Lavin, Director 175,049    (4) 0.3%
Donald P. Moriarty, Jr., Director 160,000   (5) 0.3%
John Nesbett, Director 255,000    (6) 0.5%
Jeffrey Roberts, Director 160,000    (7) 0.3%
Thomas Thornton, Director 260,000    (8) 0.5%
Current directors and executive officers as a group (7 persons) 9,868,767   (9) 18.0%
Frederick G. Perkins, III, Investor 11,758,837  (10) 21.4%
Frank Sica, Investor 7,134,477  (11) 13.0%
KeHE Distributors, Lender 4,880,000  (12) 8.9%
Alphonso DeMatteis, Investor 3,109,432  (13) 5.7%

(1) Based on 54,896,829 shares of common stock consisting of: 27,752,982 common shares issued and outstanding as of February 29,
2012 and 21,713,847 common shares underlying the preferred shares issued and outstanding as of February 29, 2012 (including
preferred share dividends through that date) and 5,430,000 common shares underlying the options issued and outstanding  as of
February 29, 2012.

(2) Represents 5,525,000 shares of common stock, fully vested but restricted from sale, transfer or other disposal of more than 2,125,000
shares of said stock in each successive twelve month period commencing February 22, 2010.

(3) Includes 1,739,432 shares held by Alfonso DeMatteis for which Mr. Keith DeMatteis has power of attorney; 14,286 shares held by
Calakar Construction Company, a company owned in part by Mr. Keith DeMatteis; and 411,000 shares of preferred stock held by
Alphonso L. DeMatteis Family, L.P. and convertible into 1,370,00 shares of our common stock, for which Mr. Keith DeMatteis has
power of attorney, and 100,000 shares of common stock held and 110,000 stock options held by Mr. Keith DeMatteis personally.

(4) Includes 65,049 shares of common stock and 110,000 options held by Mr. Lavin.
(5) Includes 160,000 shares of common stock held by Mr. Moriarty.
(6) Includes 145,000 shares of common stock and 110,000 options held by Mr. Nesbett.
(7) Includes 50,000 shares of common stock and 110,000 options held by Mr. Roberts.
(8) Includes 150,000 shares of common stock and 110,000 options held by Mr. Thornton.
(9) Includes all shares referenced in footnotes 2 through 8 above.
(10) Consists of 9,291,667 shares of common stock held and 740,151 shares of preferred stock convertible into 2,467,170 shares of our

common stock.
(11) Consists of 100,000 shares of common stock and 2,110,343 shares of preferred stock convertible into 7,034,477 shares of our common

stock.
(12) Represents 4,880,000 shares of common stock underlying 4,880,000 options held by KeHE.
(13) Includes 1,739,432 shares of common stock held by Alfonso DeMatteis and 411,000 shares of preferred stock held by Alphonso L.

DeMatteis Family, L.P. and convertible into 1,370,00 shares of our common stock,
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS, PROMOTERS AND CERTAIN CONTROL PERSONS

There are no material relationships between Artisanal and its current directors and executive officers other than as described below.

Since acquiring Artisanal, Mr. Dowe’s wife, Janet L. Dowe, has periodically provided legal and administrative services to the company.  Until January 2010, Mrs. Dowe received a consulting fee of $5,000 per month for various legal and administrative services, including the preparation and filing of all SEC quarterly and annual reports, closing and daily reconciliation of asset-based line of credit, bridge and term loan documentation, closing of long-term debt facility, contract reviews and various marketing and web-related services for a total of $60,000.  The fees paid to Mrs. Dowe for services rendered to Artisanal are approved by our Board of Directors, except for Mr. Dowe who is not entitled to vote on these matters.  Effective January 1, 2010, Mrs. Dowe became a part-time employee of Artisanal at an annual salary of $60,000.  Effective April 22, 2011, she became a full-time employee at an annual salary of $120,000.

           With respect to the foregoing transactions, we believe that the terms of these transactions were as fair to us as could be obtained from an unrelated third party.  Future transactions with affiliates including loans will be on terms no less favorable than can be obtained from unaffiliated parties and will be approved by a majority of the independent disinterested members of our board of directors.

William K. Lavin, Keith DeMatteis, John Nesbett, Donald Moriarty, Jeffrey Roberts and Thomas Thornton are “independent” directors under the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market. Daniel W. Dowe is not “independent” under the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Artisanal Brands, Inc. for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2011 included in this prospectus, and included in the registration statement, were audited by Sherb & Co, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing with the consolidated financial statements herein and incorporated in this registration statement, and are included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing. The consolidated financial statements for the nine month period ending February 29, 2012, have not yet been audited but have only been reviewed by Sherb & Co.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C. 20549, under the Securities Act, a registration statement on Form S-1 relating to the shares of common stock offered hereby. This prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and the exhibits and schedules thereto. For further information with respect to our company and the shares we are offering by this prospectus you should refer to the registration statement, including the exhibits and schedules thereto. You may inspect a copy of the registration statement without charge at the Public Reference Room of the Securities and Exchange Commission at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. The Securities and Exchange Commission also maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Securities and Exchange Commission’s World Wide Web address is www.sec.gov.
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We file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission in accordance with requirements of the Exchange Act. These periodic reports, proxy statements and other information are available for inspection and copying at the public reference facilities and Internet site of the Securities and Exchange Commission referred to above. In addition, you may request a copy of any of our periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

Investor Relations
Artisanal Brands, Inc.
483 Tenth Avenue
New York, New York 10018
(212) 871-3150

Information contained on our website is not a prospectus and does not constitute a part of this prospectus.

           Statements in this prospectus concerning any document we filed as an exhibit to the registration statement or that we otherwise filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission are not intended to be comprehensive and are qualified by reference to these filings. You should review the complete document to evaluate these statements. You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone else to provide you with different information. We are not making an offer of these securities in any state where the offer is not permitted. You should not assume the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of this prospectus.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statements (Unaudited):

Consolidated Balance Sheets at February 29, 2012 and May 31, 2011(audited) F-1

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and nine months ended February 29, 2012 and February 28, 2011 F-2

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the nine months ended February 29, 2012 and February 28, 2011 F-3

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the Nine month Period ended February 29, 2012 F-4

Financial Statements (Audited):

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-10

Balance Sheets at May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 F-11

Statement of Operations for Years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 F-12

Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity (Deficiency) for the Years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 F-13

Statement of Cash Flows for the Years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 F-14

Notes to Financial Statements for the Years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 F-15
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

February 29, May 31,
CURRENT ASSETS: 2012 2011

(unaudited)

Cash $ 16,567 $ 43,547
Accounts receivable, net 193,074 317,751
Inventories 420,178 374,116
Prepaid expenses 36,305 28,844

Total Current Assets 666,124 764,258

FIXED ASSETS, net 466,109 546,746
OTHER ASSETS 31,103 33,085
INTANGIBLES - at cost, net 3,489,179 3,552,179

Total Assets $ 4,652,515 $ 4,896,268

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable $ 648,321 $ 719,798
Note payable and current portion of long term debt 1,234,000 1,246,256
Prepaid gift certificates and other deferred revenue 106,524 51,296
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 590,259 517,618
Accrued payroll taxes 951,332 622,570

Total Current Liabilities 3,530,436 3,157,538

LONG TERM DEBT, net of current portion 3,873,508 3,288,124

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCY

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT
Preferred stock - $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 6,514,154 and 6,405,660 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 6,514 6,405
Common stock - $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized 27,752,982 and 24,200,316 shares issued and outstanding,
respectively 27,753 24,200
Additional paid-in capital 19,401,307 17,028,389
Accumulated deficit (22,187,003 ) (18,608,388 )

Total shareholders' deficit (2,751,429 ) (1,549,394 )

Total Liabilities & Shareholders' Deficit $ 4,652,515 $ 4,896,268
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See notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine months Ended
February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011 February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011

SALES $ 1,315,625 $ 1,517,927 $ 2,921,179 $ 3,622,148

COST OF GOODS SOLD 931,170 1,031,956 2,291,115 2,577,294

GROSS PROFIT 384,455 485,971 630,064 1,044,854

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE 846,549 752,229 3,417,216 2,034,483
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 54,696 60,551 164,088 169,943

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND INTEREST (516,790) (326,809) (2,951,240) (1,159,572)

OTHER INCOME( EXPENSES):
Interest income (expense) and other income (145,656) (83,747) (484,442) (357,194)

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES (662,446) (410,556) (3,435,682) (1,516,766)

INCOME TAXES - - - -
NET LOSS $ (662,446) $ (410,556) $ (3,435,682) $ (1,516,766)

LOSS APPLICABLE PER COMMON SHARE
Basic $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ (0.14) $ (0.06)
Diluted $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ (0.14) $ (0.06)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING:
basic 26,492,982 24,167,816 25,346,649 24,054,066
diluted 26,492,982 24,167,816 25,346,649 24,054,066

See notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Nine months ended
February 29, 2012 February 28, 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (3,435,682) $ (1,516,766)
Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 101,088 106,943
Amortization of intangibles 63,000 63,000
Amortization of debt discount 183,128 104,743
Equity based compensation attributed to debt 997,047 -
Common stock issued for services 108,805 22,983
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable 124,677 (7,848)
Inventory (46,062) (5,724)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (7,461) (8,030)
Accounts payable 206,067 192,140
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 456,632 161,636
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,248,761) (886,923)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Sale/(Purchase) of fixed assets (20,451) (62,850)
Increase/(Decrease) in security deposit 1,982 1,971
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES: (18,469) (60,879)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Increase/(Decrease) in notes payable 200,000 (4,898)
Sale of preferred stock 800,250 -
Payment of long-term debt - (66,519)
Proceeds/(Payment) of term loan (60,000) 320,000
Proceeds from Shareholder loan 300,000 400,000
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,240,250 648,583

NET DECREASE IN CASH (26,980) (299,219)

CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 43,547 384,998

CASH AT END OF PERIOD $ 16,567 $ 85,779

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 2,085 $ 6,732
Income taxes - -
Non-cash financing activities:
Conversion of preferred shares to common shares 1,019,300 -
Preferred shares issued for interest $ 277,544 -
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See notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NINE MONTHS ENDED FEBRUARY 29, 2012
(UNAUDITED)

1.         BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Artisanal Brands, Inc., Inc. (the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q.  Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements.  In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation (consisting of normal recurring accruals) have been included.  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  Operating results expected for the nine months ended February 29, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending May 31, 2012.  For further information, refer to the financial statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2011.  Per share data for the periods are based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during such period.

2.         SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents include investments in money market funds and are stated at cost, which approximates market value. Cash at times may exceed FDIC insurable limits.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables, Net

The Company's accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from customers for the sale of its products. The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on management's estimate of collectability of such trade and notes receivables outstanding. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents an amount considered by management to be adequate to cover potential losses, if any. The recorded allowance at February 29, 2012 and May 31, 2011, was $15,000 and $15,000, respectively.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues associated with the sale of its products at the time of delivery to customers, when the price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

In the current fiscal year the Company with its largest distributor, began to purchase from a foreign manufacturer and resell coolers for product displays. The sale of the coolers are recorded once delivery is tendered to the distributor.

Marketing and Advertising Costs

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses charged to operations for the nine months ended February 29, 2012 and February 28, 2011 were approximately $119,318 and $162,957, respectively.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior quarter amounts presented to conform to the current period presentations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets at February 29, 2012 and May 31, 2011 relates to the assets acquired by the Company in August 2007.

The Company reviews long-lived assets, certain identifiable assets and any impairment related to those assets at least annually or whenever circumstances and situations change such that there is an indication that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Equity-based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity-based compensation in accordance with guidance issued by the FASB, Share-Based Payment.  The Company records compensation expense using a fair-value-based measurement method for all awards granted. In computing the impact, the fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant based on the Black-Scholes options-pricing model utilizing certain assumptions for a risk free interest rate; volatility; and expected remaining lives of the awards. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change and the Company uses different assumptions, the Company’s equity-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. In addition, the Company is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. In estimating the Company’s forfeiture rate, the Company analyzed its historical forfeiture rate, the remaining lives of unvested options, and the amount of vested options as a percentage of total options outstanding. If the Company’s actual forfeiture rate is materially different from its estimate, or if the Company reevaluates the forfeiture rate in the future, the equity-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period.  Equity-based compensation for the nine months ended February 29, 2012 and February 28, 2011 was $1,105,852 and $22,958, respectively.  Of the equity-based compensation booked during the nine months ended February 29, 2012, $976,628  is attributable to the vesting of 4,440,000 common stock options that had been granted to KeHE Distributors in connection with the marketing and distribution agreement entered in February 2011 and amended in May 2011 and $24,020 is attributable to the vesting of 550,000 common stock options that had been granted to board members to replace those options which expired earlier in the year.
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Net Income/(Loss) Per Share

In accordance with the FASB guidance for, "Earnings Per Share", basic net income/(loss) per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period. For the nine months ended February 29, 2012, diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share since the inclusion of the 5,430,000 outstanding stock options would be antidilutive.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, notes receivable, and accounts payable, approximated fair value as of February 29, 2012, because of the relatively short-term maturity of these instruments and their market interest rates. Since a portion of long-term debt is in default, it is not possible to estimate its value.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Any new accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective have been deemed not to be relevant to the operations of the Company, hence the effects of such undisclosed new accounting pronouncements will have no effect on the Company.

3.         ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of the following:          

February 29, May 31,
2012 2011

Trade accounts receivable $ 203,146 $ 327,566
Employees 4,928 5,185

208,074 332,751
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (15,000 ) (15,000 )

$ 193,074 $ 317,751
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4.         INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued on a first-in-first-out (FIFO) basis.  Inventories consisted of the following:

February 29, May 31,
2012 2011

Cheese Inventory $ 125,233 $ 152,185
Shipping/Packing Material Inventory 221,122 188,183
Accessories & Books Inventory 71,724 31,421
Beverage 2,099 2,327

$ 420,178 $ 374,116

5.         PREPAID EXPENSES

As of February 29, 2012, the Company had prepaid expenses of $36,305, which consisted primarily of prepaid real estate taxes of $4,621, other operating expense of $5,289 and prepaid insurance of $26,395. As of May 31, 2011, the Company had prepaid expenses of $28,844, which consisted primarily of prepaid insurance.

6.         INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of the following:

February 29, May 31,
Amortizable life 2012 2011

Trade name Indefinite $ 1,720,000 $ 1,720,000
Non-competition agreement 5 years 110,000 110,000
Non-contractual customer relationships 10 years 620,000 620,000
Goodwill Indefinite 1,420,679 1,420,678
Total intangible assets 3,870,679 3,870,678
Accumulated amortization (381,500 ) (318,499 )

$ 3,489,179 $ 3,552,179

7.         NOTES PAYABLE

February 29, 2012 May 31, 2011
At February 29, 2012, notes payable consists of:

Bridge Loan, (a) $ 150,000 $ 150,000
Term Loan, (b) 834,000 894,000
KeHE Loan-current portion, (c) 250,000 250,000
Total Notes payable $ 1,234,000 $ 1,294,000

 (a) In July 2009, we secured from an existing shareholder a $150,000 bridge loan at an annual interest rate of nine percent (9%) which matured on September 8, 2009 (the "Bridge Loan").  The Company has defaulted on repayment of the Bridge Loan by the maturity date, however, the lender has agreed to forbear collection until such time as the Company completes a secondary offering.  As of February 29, 2012, the total amount due under the Bridge Loan including interest is $181,475.

(b) During the period July 2009 to February 2011, we secured from several existing shareholders a term loan in the aggregate amount of $1,214,000 at an annual interest rate of nine percent (9%) to mature on or about September 10, 2010 (the "Term Loan").  The Term Loan amount has since been reduced to $834,000 (excluding interest) and the due date of the loan was extended to December 31, 2011.  The Company has defaulted on repayment of the Term Loan by the maturity date, however, the lenders have agreed to forbear collection until such time as the Company completes a secondary offering.  As of February 29, 2012, the total amount due under the Term Loan including interest is $998,477. 

(c) Also reported under Notes Payable is a $250,000 short term loan from KeHE advanced in May 2011 (See Note 9-Long Term Debt).   The Company has defaulted on repayment of the short term loan by the maturity date, however, has the full support of KeHE which has agreed to forbear until such time as the Company completes a secondary offering.  

In November 2011, we obtained a short term loan of $150,000 from a lender for purposes of obtaining advance product for seasonal sales.  The loan was repaid in three installments before December 31, 2011 as well as interest in the amount of $756.16 representing eight percent (8%) interest over the course of the loan.
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8.         ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

As of February 29, 2012, the Company had accrued expenses and other liabilities of $590,259 which consisted primarily of $424,014 for accrued interest on loans, vendor installment agreements of $60,895, accrued payroll of $43,959, accrued professional fees of $17,500, a vendor prepayment of $38,000 and other miscellaneous accruals for $5,891.  As of May 31, 2011, the Company had accrued expenses and other liabilities of $517,618 which consisted primarily of $418,834 for accrued interest on term loans, vendor installment agreements of $60,895, accrued payroll of $20,311 and other accrued expenses of $17,578.

9.         ACCRUED PAYROLL TAXES

The Company is in arrears with paying payroll taxes of $951,332.  Of this amount approximately $480,000 relates to the parent Company's operations prior to the acquisition of Artisanal Cheese LLC. The balance relates to more recent payroll taxes which are attributable in part to the increased seasonal workforce.  The Company is currently negotiating with the relevant tax authorities to work out a payment program for the taxes owed.  Our plan is to make a downpayment and then making double weekly tax payments until the arrears are paid.

10.       LONG TERM DEBT

February 29, 2012 May 31, 2011
At February 29, 2012, long-term debt consists of:

KeHE Loan,(a) $ 770,000 $ 770,000
Long-Term Loan,(b) 3,500,000 3,000,000
Debt Discount, (c) (146,492) (279,620)
Total debt $ 4,123,508 $ 3,490,380
Less current portion (250,000) (202,256)
Long term debt $ 3,873,508 $ 3,288,124

(a) On or about February 11, 2011, the Company entered into a three-year marketing and distribution agreement granting KeHE Distributors LLC the exclusive rights to distribute into retail outlets all Artisanal products with primary focus on the Company's 16-cheese CheeseClock program. KeHE's exclusivity is dependent upon KeHE meeting specific minimum annual sales. Under the agreement, KeHE earns a commission of five percent (5%) on all net sales to accounts serviced by KeHE and may also earn stock options upon meeting specified sales thresholds over the term of the agreement (See Notes to Financials, Note 10, Shareholders Equity for details). The agreement further provides that KeHE will loan up to $520,000 to the Company to facilitate the purchase of inventory required for the KeHE accounts and that KeHE will advance up to an additional $100,000 of marketing funds to be used for in-store demonstrations and related marketing costs. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3-Month LIBOR plus 5% to be paid quarterly and is secured by the Company's accounts receivable and inventory. For so long as any amounts remain outstanding under the loan or KeHE maintains its exclusive distributor status and meets its annual minimum purchases, the Company may not incur any debt or issue any additional common stock without KeHE’s consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. As of May 2011, the Company had drawn down $520,000 of the total amount permitted under the agreement. In May 2011, it borrowed an additional $250,000 from KeHE to be repaid within 60 days. For this reason, $250,000 of the KeHE loan is reported under Notes Payable. As an inducement for making this additional loan, the Company modified the vesting terms of KeHe’s 4,880,000 options, which were to be earned based on certain product purchase thresholds. Upon the execution on May 9, 2011, of the amended Marketing and Distribution Agreement, KeHe became fully vested on 440,000 three year options exercisable at $.30 a share. The fair market value of these options, utilizing the Black Scholes model, was $75,386. These costs were amortized over 60 days. The remaining 4,440,000 of options to be earned for future purchases of inventory were to become fully vested on August 22, 2011, if the $250,000 was not repaid. The additional funds were not repaid and the remaining options vested. The fair market value of these options, utilizing the Black Scholes model, was $976,628 all of which was expensed immediately. The principal of $770,000 is now due in May 2014. As of February 29, 2012, the total amount due under the KeHE Agreement including interest is $808,005.
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(b) On or about February 22, 2010, the Company entered a loan agreement with one of its preferred shareholders and term loan participants (the "Lender") for a loan of $2.5 million (the "Long Term Loan").  On specified dates since then, the Long Term Loan has been increased by a total of $1,000,000.  The original loan was conditional upon the Lender obtaining a first security position on all of the Company's assets.  The loan was also conditional upon the Company's repurchase from Lender and its affiliate of 500,000 shares of the redeemable convertible preferred stock held by them collectively, repayment to the Lender of amounts Lender had previously advanced to Borrower under the Term Loan agreement (discussed above), and issuance to Lender of 9,275,000 shares of the Company's $.001 par value common stock representing twenty percent of the Company's outstanding common stock on a fully-diluted basis.  The maturity date of this Long Term Loan is February 2013.  As of February 29, 2012, the total amount due under the Long Term Loan including interest is $3,690,050.

(c) A unamortized debt discount attributed to the Long-Term Loan as of February 29, 2012 and May 31, 2011 was $146,492 and $279,620, respectively.

11.       SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred Stock Issuances

During the quarter ended August 31, 2011, several private investors made an equity investment of $430,250 for which these investors received 430,250 shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock. The proceeds were used for operating capital.

During the quarter ended August 31, 2011, a secured lender agreed to accept payment of the outstanding interest owed on its note through May 25, 2011,  totaling approximately $277,544 into 277,544 shares of the Company’s preferred stock.

In August 2011, the Company issued 50,000 shares of preferred stock to a lender in connection with a loan to the Company of $200,000.  The company recorded total debt discount of $50,000 and interest expense of $2,778 in connection with these shares.

During the quarter ended November 30, 2011, one private investor made an investment of $370,000 for which he received 370,000 shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock. The proceeds were used for operating capital.

During the quarter ended November 30, 2011, two preferred shareholders converted a total of 263,300 shares of preferred stock at the conversion rate of $.30 per share for which they received a total of 877,666 shares of common stock.

During the quarter ended February 29, 2012, a preferred shareholder converted a total of 756,000 shares of preferred stock at the conversion rate of $.30 per share for which they received a total of 2,520,000 shares of common stock.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and Directors
Artisanal Brands, Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Artisanal Brands, Inc.  as of May 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, cash flows for each of the years then ended May 31, 2011 and 2010.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Artisanal Brands, Inc. as of May 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

/s/ Sherb & Co., LLP
Certified Public Accountants
New York, New York
September 13, 2011
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

May 31,
2011 2010

CURRENT ASSETS:

    Cash $ 43,547 $ 384,998
    Accounts receivable, net 317,751 289,003
    Inventories 374,116 369,902
    Prepaid expenses and other current assets 28,844 55,208

         Total Current Assets 764,258 1,099,111

FIXED ASSETS, net 546,746 616,437
OTHER ASSETS 33,085 35,046
INTANGIBLES - at cost, net 3,552,179 3,636,178

         Total Assets $ 4,896,268 $ 5,386,772

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

    Accounts payable $ 719,798 $ 511,808
    Note payable and current portion of long term debt 1,246,256 282,171
    Prepaid gift certificates and other deferred revenue 51,296 66,485
    Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 517,618 276,533
    Accrued payroll taxes 622,570 480,769

         Total Current Liabilities 3,157,538 1,617,766

LONG TERM DEBT, net of current portion 3,288,124 2,986,630

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCY

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock - $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 6,405,660 and 6,419,160 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 6,405 6,419
Common stock - $0.001 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized 24,200,316 and 23,765,316 shares issued and outstanding,
respectively 24,200 23,765
    Additional paid-in capital 17,028,389 16,820,913
    Accumulated deficit (18,608,388 ) (16,068,721 )

          Total shareholders' equity (1,549,394 ) 782,376

Edgar Filing: FreightCar America, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 43



Total Liabilities & Shareholders' Deficit $ 4,896,268 $ 5,386,772

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended May 31,
2011 2010

SALES $ 4,634,359 $ 4,192,845

COST OF GOODS SOLD 3,369,178 3,382,110

GROSS PROFIT 1,265,181 810,735

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE 3,083,952 2,426,468
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 228,639 254,516

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND INTEREST (2,047,410 ) (1,870,249 )

OTHER INCOME( EXPENSES):
    Interest income (expense) and other income (492,257 ) (421,365 )

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES (2,539,667 ) (2,291,614 )

INCOME TAXES - -

NET LOSS (2,539,667 ) (2,291,614 )

LESS PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDEND - (267,936 )
NET LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON SHARES $ (2,539,667 ) $ (2,559,550 )

LOSS APPLICABLE PER COMMON SHARE
Basic $ (0.11 ) $ (0.23 )
Diluted $ (0.11 ) $ (0.23 )

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING:
basic 24,022,649 11,079,649
diluted 24,022,649 11,079,649

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended May 31,
2011 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (2,539,667 ) $ (2,291,614 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and impairment of equipment 144,639 177,516
Interest on loans as preferred stock - 151,401
Amortization of intangibles 84,000 77,000
Amortization of debt discount 159,734 38,646
Common stock issued for services 132,511 107,288
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effect from acquisition:
Accounts receivable (28,748 ) 167,685
Inventory (4,214 ) (45,811 )
Prepaid expenses and other assets 24,404 50,748
Accounts payable 207,990 (310,953 )
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 225,896 (8,375 )
Accrued payroll taxes 141,801 -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,451,654 ) (1,886,469 )

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of fixed assets (74,948 ) (64,835 )
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES: (74,948 ) (64,835 )

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Cash overdraft - (36,927 )
Sale of preferred stock - 100,000
Payment of long-term debt (84,849 ) (650,771 )
Proceeds from issuance of notes payables 770,000 -
Redemption of Preferred Stock - (500,000 )
Proceeds from Shareholder loan 500,000 3,424,000
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,185,151 2,336,302

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH (341,451 ) 384,998

CASH AT BEGINNING OF FISCAL YEAR 384,998 -

CASH AT END OF FISCAL YEAR $ 43,547 $ 384,998

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 8,007 $ 107,129
Income taxes - -
Non-cash financing activies:
Preferred shares issued for services  -  -
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Conversion of Restricted Stock - 200,000
Preferred shares issued for dividend - 267,936

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2010 and 2011

Additional
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

BALANCE, May 31, 2009 6,599,717 $ 6,599 7,835,316 $ 7,835 $ 16,713,919 $ (13,777,107 ) $ 2,951,246

Issuance of common stock and options for services rendered 85,000 85 85
Issuance of common stock to directors 220,000 220 220
Issuance of common stock to lender 9,275,000 9,275 454,475 463,750
Conversion of preferred stock by lenders (200,000 ) (200 ) (199,800 ) (200,000 )
Redemption of perfered stock (500,000 ) (500 ) (499,500 ) (500,000 )
Issuance of preferred stock to lenders 151,400 152 151,249 151,401
Issuance of preferred stock to investors 100,000 100 99,900 100,000
Issuance of preferred stock dividend 268,043 268 (268 ) 0
Equity-based compensation 6,350,000 6,350 100,938 107,288
Net loss (2,291,614 ) (2,291,614 )
BALANCE, May 31, 2010 6,419,160 $ 6,419 23,765,316 $ 23,765 $ 16,820,913 $ (16,068,721 ) $ 782,376

Equity based rights issued to lender 75,386 75,386
Conversion of preferred stock by investors (13,500 ) (14 ) 45,000 45 (31 ) 0
Equity-based compensation 390,000 390 132,121 132,511
Net loss (2,539,667 ) (2,539,667 )
BALANCE, May 31, 2011 6,405,660 $ 6,405 24,200,316 $ 24,200 $ 17,028,389 $ (18,608,388 ) $ (1,549,394 )

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ARTISANAL BRANDS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2011 AND 2010

1.             DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Artisanal Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) markets and distributes a wide line of specialty, artisanal and farmstead cheese products and other related specialty food products under its own brand “Artisanal Premium Cheese” to food wholesalers and retailers and directly to consumers through its catalog and website www.artisanalcheese.com.

2.             SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

a.           Basis of Presentation - The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements of Artisanal Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-K and Regulation SX.  In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation (consisting of normal recurring accruals) have been included.

b.Principles of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

c.           Cash and Cash Equivalents -  The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents include investments in money market funds and are stated at cost, which approximates market value. Cash at times may exceed FDIC insurable limits.

d.           Trade Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables, Net - The Company's accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from customers for the sale of its products. The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on management's estimate of collectability of such trade and notes receivables outstanding. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents an amount considered by management to be adequate to cover potential losses, if any. The recorded allowance at May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $15,000 and $40,000, respectively.

e.           Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.  Cost is determined using first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for cheese, accessories and packing materials, all finished goods.

f.           Property and Equipment - Property and equipment acquired in the Artisanal acquisition is carried at net book value which approximates fair market value at the date of the acquisition. Amounts incurred for repairs and maintenance are charged to operations in the period incurred. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following useful lives:

Equipment   3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years
Leasehold improvements 5-10 years
Software 2-5 years
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g.       Goodwill and Intangible Assets - Intangible assets at May 31, 2011 relates to the assets acquired by the Company in August 2007.

The Company reviews long-lived assets, certain identifiable assets and any impairment related to those assets at least annually or whenever circumstances and situations change such that there is an indication that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

h.      Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The accounting guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy based on whether the market participant assumptions used in determining fair value are obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) or reflect the Company's own assumptions of market participant valuation (unobservable inputs). A financial instrument's categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The accounting guidance establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets that are unadjusted and accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities;

Level 2—Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that are inactive; quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or financial instruments for which significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly; or

Level 3—Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

The Company considers an active market to be one in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis, and views an inactive market as one in which there are few transactions for the asset or liability, the prices are not current, or price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers. Where appropriate the Company's or the counterparty's non-performance risk is considered in determining the fair values of liabilities and assets, respectively.

i.           Revenue Recognition – The Company recognizes revenues associated with the sale of its products at the time of delivery to customers.

j.           Shipping and Handling Costs – Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales.
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k.          Advertising Costs – All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.  Advertising expenses charged to operations for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 amounted to approximately $297,691 and $356, respectively.

l.           Interest Income/(Expense) - Interest expense relates to interest owed on the Company's debt. Interest expense is recognized over the period the debt is outstanding at the stated interest rates.

m.          Income Taxes - Income taxes have been provided using the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured by applying estimated tax rates and laws to taxable years in which such differences are expected to reverse. The deferred tax asset attributed to the net operating losses has been fully reserved, since the Company has yet to achieve recurring income from operations.

n.           Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

o.           Stock-Based Compensation - The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with guidance issued by the FASB, Share-Based Payment.  The Company records compensation expense using a fair-value-based measurement method for all awards granted. In computing the impact, the fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant based on the Black-Scholes options-pricing model utilizing certain assumptions for a risk free interest rate; volatility; and expected remaining lives of the awards. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change and the Company uses different assumptions, the Company’s stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. In addition, the Company is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. In estimating the Company’s forfeiture rate, the Company analyzed its historical forfeiture rate, the remaining lives of unvested options, and the amount of vested options as a percentage of total options outstanding. If the Company’s actual forfeiture rate is materially different from its estimate, or if the Company reevaluates the forfeiture rate in the future, the stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period.  Equity-based compensation for the years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 was $132,121 and $107,288, respectively.

p.            Net Income/(Loss) Per Share – In accordance with FASB guidance for "Earnings Per Share", basic net income/(loss) per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period.  For the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share since the inclusion of stock options and warrants would be antidilutive. The Company has excluded 4,880,000 and 770,000 options, respectively, as they are antidilutive, during the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010.
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q.           Segment Disclosure – Management believes the Company operates as one segment.

r.            Recent Accounting Pronouncements – In December 2010, the FASB issued ASC No.. 2010-28 Topic 350 “ Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, When to perform Step 2 of the Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying Amounts”. The main provisions of this amendment are to consider whether there are any adverse qualitative factors indicating that an impairment may exist.  The amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2010. Early adoption is not permitted. All other new accounting pronouncements issued but not yet effective have deemed to be immaterial as to any significant effect on the Company’s financials.

3.             ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

                As of May 31, accounts receivable consist of the following:

2011 2010
Trade accounts receivable $ 327,566 $ 323,733
Employees 5,185 5,271

332,751 329,004
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (15,000 ) (40,001 )

$ 317,751 $ 289,003

4.             INVENTORIES

                 Inventories are valued on a first-in-first-out (FIFO) basis.  Inventory at May 31, consisted of the following:

 2011  2010
Cheese Inventory $ 152,185 $ 268,212
Shipping/Packing Material Inventory 188,183 47,617
Accessories & Books Inventory 31,421 51,999
Beverage 2,327 2,074

$ 374,116 $ 369,902

5.             PREPAID EXPENSES

As of May 31, 2011, the Company had prepaid expenses of $28,844, which consisted primarily of prepaid insurance. As of May 31, 2010, the Company had prepaid expenses of $55,208, which consisted primarily of marketing expense of $6,600, deposits on inventory of $36,196 and prepaid insurance of $12,412.
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6.             FIXED ASSETS

                Fixed Assets, net consist of the following:

 2011  2010
Furniture and fixtures $ 178,665 $ 178,665
Kitchen Equipment 274,485 270,929
Computer Equipment 114,551 113,722
Software & Web Design 39,996 20,087
Cheese Clock by Artisanal tm 131,211 82,173
Leasehold Improvement 356,396 354,780

1,095,304 1,020,356
Less:  Accumulated
          Depreciation & Amortization (548,558 ) (403,919 )

$ 546,746 $ 616,437

Depreciation expense recorded for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $144,639 and $177,516, respectively.

7.             INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of the following:

Amortizable life 2011 2010
Trade name Indefinite $ 1,720,000 $ 1,720,000
Non-competition  agreement 5 years 110,000 110,000
Non-contractual customer relationships 10 years 620,000 620,000
Goodwill Indefinite 1,420,678 1,420,678
            Total intangible assets 3,870,678 3,870,678
Accumulated amortization (318,499 ) (234,500 )

$ 3,552,179 $ 3,636,178

The Company has recorded amortization on its intangibles for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 of $84,000 and $77,000, respectively.
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8.             NOTES PAYABLE and CURRENT PORTION OF LONG TERM DEBT

On May 31, 2011, notes payable consists of the following:

• The Term Loan (described below) is due on or before December 31, 2011, and, therefore, has been moved from Long-Term Debt to Notes Payable.  As of May 31, 2011, the total amount owed to the Term Loan participants including interest is $1,002,389.

• The $250,000 loan from KeHe discussed in Note 13(a), net of unamortized debt discount of $47,744.

• As of May 31, 2011, the total amount due under the Bridge Loan (described below) including interest is $171,341.

• All amounts owed under the Sellers' Notes (described below) were paid in full on or about February 11, 2011.

On May 31, 2010, notes payable consist of the following:

• In connection with the acquisition of Artisanal Cheese, LLC, the Company obtained two seller's notes--one from each of the former members of Artisanal Cheese, LLC.  The notes are for $130,000 and $370,000, respectively (the "Sellers' Notes").  The note for $130,000 bore interest at 5% per annum and was payable in consecutive monthly payments of principal and interest in the amount of $3,896.22 commencing November 1, 2007.  The note for $370,000 bore interest at 5% per annum and was payable in consecutive monthly payments of principal and interest in the amount of $11,089.23 commencing November 1, 2007.  All principal and accrued interest under both notes was due and payable in full on October 1, 2010.  Both notes were secured pursuant to a Security Agreement pursuant to which the note holders had a first priority security interest in all assets of the Company except that the note holders had agreed to subordinate their security interest on those assets so that the Company may obtain asset-based debt financing.  As of May 31, 2010, the total balance of the notes was $132,171  and the loan principal and interest had been re-classified to current liabilities.
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•In February 2009, the Company closed on a revolving line of credit in an amount representing up to 85% of the company’s accounts receivable and 50% of its inventories with a maximum loan amount of $750,000 (the "Summit Loan").  The cost of this facility is at Prime Rate plus 2%.  The Prime Rate at February 28, 2009, was 3.25%.  The line of credit was secured by the assets of the Company and had various covenants for collateral management fees, change of control provisions and a guarantee.  As of June 1, 2009, two events of default had occurred under the Summit Loan.  Specifically, the advance against acceptable inventory exceeded the bank’s formula by approximately $20,000 and the Company had not yet paid its past due taxes in full or otherwise subordinated the taxes to the bank in a manner acceptable to the bank.  On or about June 1, 2009, the parties executed a Forbearance Agreement pursuant to which the bank agreed to forbear from exercising its rights and remedies under the original loan document in exchange for the Company’s agreement that, until it provides satisfactory evidence that it has paid the past due taxes have been paid or otherwise subordinated to the bank and until it has raised $1.7 million in cash equity, the interest rate shall be increased to the Prime Rate plus 8%.  The forbearance agreement expired July 31, 2009.  On or about August 13, 2009, the parties executed a second forbearance agreement pursuant to which the bank agreed to forbear until November 9, 2009, in exchange for a $10,000 forbearance fee, a limitation on the loan against inventory to a maximum of $175,000, and interest to continue at the rate of Prime Rate plus 8%.  On or about November 12, 2009, the parties executed a third forbearance agreement pursuant to which the bank agreed to forbear until February 15, 2010, in exchange for a $20,000 forbearance fee, a weekly pay down of the loan against inventory, and the termination of the  balance of loan against receivables on or before February 15, 2010.  On that date, the Company was in the process of finalizing loan documents with a substitute factoring company.  As agreed, no further invoices were submitted to Summit for financing and Summit proceeded to apply all monies received on behalf of the Company to the loan balance.  In the meantime, the Company received from one of its preferred shareholders and term loan participants an offer to loan the Company $2.5 million conditional upon, among other things, an assignment of the Summit financing documents to the lender.  Summit and the Company subsequently agreed that the November 12, 2009 forbearance fee which had been added to the loan balance would be halved.  On or about March 3, 2010, Summit agreed to assign and the lender agreed to assume all rights and obligations under the Summit financing documents in exchange for full payment to Summit of the then outstanding amount of $220,080.  Summit was repaid in full on March 3, 2010.

• In October 2009, the board approved the Company’s intentions to obtain an $850,000 term loan and to raise an additional $2 million in equity.  The board subsequently increased the limit on the term loan to $1,650,000.  As of mid-February 2010, the company had secured from existing shareholders a $150,000 bridge loan at an annual interest rate of nine percent (9%) which matured on September 8, 2009 (the "Bridge Loan") and $1,214,000 of the term loan at an annual interest rate of nine percent (9%) to mature on or about September 10, 2010 (the "Term Loan").  The Company has defaulted on repayment of the Bridge Loan by the maturity date, however, the lender has agreed to forbear collection until such time as the Company completes the equity raise.  As of May 31, 2010, the total amount due under the Bridge Loan including interest is $157,841.  The Term Loan amount was subsequently reduced to $924,000 (excluding interest) through the repayment of $290,000 to one of the term lenders in exchange in part for a new loan of $2.5 million (see below).  At that time, the due date of the loan was extended to December 31, 2011 and is reported under Long-Term Debt.  (See Note 13, Long Term Debt.)
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9.             PREPAID GIFT CERTIFICATES AND OTHER DEFERRED REVENUE

The Company records cash received in advance of the delivery of products or services as deferred revenue until the products are delivered to customers or the services are provided.  Gift certificates are issued for a one-year period at which time the certificate expires.

10.           ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

As of May 31, 2011, the Company had accrued expenses and other liabilities of $517,618 which consisted primarily of $418,834 for accrued interest on term loans, vendor installment agreements of $60,895, accrued payroll of $20,311 and other accrued expenses of $17,578.  As of May 31, 2010, the Company had accrued expenses and other liabilities of $276,533 which consisted primarily of $5,601 for accrued payroll, $15,750 for professional fees, $149,849 for vendor installment agreements, $104,636 for accrued interest on term loans and other of $697.

11.           ACCRUED PAYROLL TAXES

The Company is in arrears with paying payroll taxes of $622,570. The Company is currently negotiating with the relevant tax authorities a payment program for the balance of taxes owed.

12.           INCOME TAXES

At May 31, 2011, the Company has available unused net operating loss carryforward (“NOL”) of approximately $15,380,000 that may be applied against future taxable income and expire at various dates through 2030.  The Company has a deferred tax assets arising from such net operating loss deductions and has recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of such deferred tax asset since the likelihood of realization of the tax benefits cannot be determined.  Such valuation allowance has increased approximately $975,000 during 2011.

2011 2010
Deferred tax asset:
Net operating loss carryforward $ 6,725,000 $ 5,750,000
Valuation allowance (6,725,000 ) (5,750,000 )
Net deferred tax asset $ -0- $ -0-
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income (tax) benefit to actual tax benefit is as follows:

2011 2010
Statutory federal income (tax) benefit $ (888,000 ) $ (801,000 )
State and local tax benefit – net of federal benefit (229,000 ) (206,000 )
Permanent differences – equity compensation and other 142,000 130,000
Income tax benefit utilized (not utilized) 975,000 877,000
Actual tax benefit $ -0- $ -0-

If the Company has a greater than 50% change in ownership of certain stock holdings by shareholders of the Company pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, the net operating losses may be limited.  Currently no such evaluation has been performed.

13.           LONG TERM DEBT

2011 2010
At May, long-term debt consists of:
KeHE Loan,(a) $ 770,000 $ -0-
Long-Term Loan,(b) 3,000,000 2,500,000
Term Loans (Note 8) - 924,000
Debt Discount, (c) (279,620 ) (437,370 )
Total debt $ 3,490,380 $ 2,986,630
Less current portion (202,256 ) -
Long term debt $ 3,288,124 $ 2,986,630

(a) On or about February 11, 2011, the Company entered into a three-year marketing and distribution agreement granting KeHE Distributors LLC the exclusive rights to distribute into retail outlets all Artisanal products with primary focus on the Company's 16-cheese CheeseClock program.  KeHE's exclusivity is dependent upon KeHE meeting specific minimum annual sales.   Under the agreement, KeHE earns a commission of five percent (5%) on all net sales to accounts serviced by KeHE and may also earn stock options upon meeting specified sales thresholds over the term of the agreement (See Notes to Financials, Note 14, Shareholders Equity for details).  The agreement further provides that KeHE will loan up to $520,000 to the Company to facilitate the purchase of inventory required for the KeHE accounts and that KeHE will advance up to an additional $100,000 of marketing funds to be used for in-store demonstrations and related marketing costs.  The loan bears interest at a rate of 3-Month LIBOR plus 5% to be paid quarterly and is secured by the Company's accounts receivable and inventory.  For so long as any amounts remain outstanding under the loan or KeHE maintains its exclusive distributor status and meets its annual minimum purchases, the Company may not incur any debt or issue any additional common stock without KeHE’s consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; except that the Company is permitted under the agreement to sell or otherwise issue the remaining 1,135,000 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock.  As of May 31, 2011, the Company had drawn down $520,000 of the total amount permitted under the agreement. In May 2011, it borrowed an additional $250,000 from KeHE to be repaid within 60 days.  For this reason, $250,000 of the KeHE loan is reported under Notes Payable. As an inducement for making this additional loan, the Company modified the vesting terms of KeHe’s 4,880,000 options, which were to be earned based on certain product purchase thresholds. Upon the execution, May 9th, 2011, of the amended Marketing and Distribution Agreement, KeHe became fully vested on 440,000 three year options exercisable at $.30 a share. The fair market value of these options, utilizing the Black Scholes model, was $75,386. These costs are being amortized over 60 days, hence as at May 31, 2011 there remained $47,744 of unamortized debt discount costs. The remaining 4,440,000 of options were to vest over the next 105 days if the $250,000 was not repaid. As of the date of this filing, the additional funds have not been repaid and the remaining options vested. The Company is currently renegotiating the vesting terms of these 4,880,000 of options as well as extending the due date of the $250,000.
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(b) On or about February 22, 2010, the Company entered a loan agreement with one of its preferred shareholders and term loan participants (the "Lender") for a loan of $2.5 million (the "Long Term Loan").  The loan was conditional upon the Lender obtaining a first security position on all of the Company's assets subject only to the priority security interest of Terrence Brennan and Marvin Numeroff in certain intellectual property of the Company.  This required the assignment by Summit Financial Resources LLP to the Lender of Summit's factoring facility dated February 18, 2009 (See Note 8, Notes Payable).  The loan was also conditional upon the Company's repurchase from Lender and its affiliate 500,000 shares of the redeemable convertible preferred stock held by them collectively, repayment to the Lender of amounts Lender had previously advanced to Borrower under the term loan agreements (discussed above), and issuance to Lender of 9,275,000 shares of the Company's $.001 par value common stock representing twenty percent of the Company's outstanding common stock on a fully-diluted basis.  The maturity date of this Long Term Loan is February 2013.  As of May 27, 2011, the Company increased the Long Term Loan by $500,000. As of May 31, 2011, the total amount owed under the Long-Term Loan including interest is $3,281,446.

 (c) A unamortized debt discount attributed to the Long-Term Loan as of May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $231,875 and $437, 370, respectively.
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Five-Year Maturity of Debt Schedule
Principal

Fiscal 2011 1,294,000
Fiscal 2012
Fiscal 2013 3,520,000
Fiscal 2014 -
Fiscal 2015 -
Total 4,814,000

Such five year maturity schedule of debt is exclusive of the $279,620 of unamortized debt discount.

14.           SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Terms of Series A Preferred Stock (“Preferred Stock”)

The Preferred Stock is convertible at $.30 per share into $.001 par value Common Stock of Company, (equaling 60% of the issued and outstanding Common Stock of the Company on a fully diluted basis, excluding the Management Stock Option (see below)).  Initially, dividends were to be paid (a) at an annual rate of 12% in each of the first three years ending August 14, 2008, 2009, and 2010 and were to be paid in preferred shares and (b) after the first three years, at a rate of 12% if paid in cash or at a rate of 15% if paid in preferred shares, at the election of the Company.  In February 2010, the preferred shareholders voted to terminate the issuance of dividends effective November 30, 2009.  The preferred share dividends shall convert into Common Stock at $.30 per share.

The redemption provisions of these redeemable preferred shares are at the option of the Company. At any time prior to August 14, 2010, and upon 30 days advance notice, the Company had the right to redeem one-half of the Preferred Stock that is issued and outstanding by paying the Holder the full par value of the Preferred Stock plus accrued dividends in cash (the “First Redemption”).  The remaining one-half of the Preferred Stock that is issued and outstanding after the First Redemption can either be: (a) redeemed by the Company in cash at par value plus accrued dividends with the Holder also receiving a 2-year option to acquire 5% of the issued and outstanding Common Stock of the Company at an exercise price of $.30 per share, or, (b) converted into 30% of the issued and outstanding Common Stock of the Company (the “Second Redemption”).  The Holder shall have sole authority to elect subsection (a) or (b) above upon receiving a Redemption Notice.  Any Common Stock or Common Stock Option issued pursuant to the First Redemption or the Second Redemption shall be on a fully-diluted basis.
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So long as over $1,500,000 of the Preferred Stock is issued and outstanding the Company shall require the prior written consent of Holders representing 2/3 of the Preferred Stock issued and outstanding to (a) sell, merge with, acquire or consolidate with another business entity, (b) incur additional leverage beyond the leverage contemplated by the Company and Holders as part of the Company’s acquisition of Artisanal Cheese, LLC, or (c) issue any new shares of common stock or securities convertible or exercisable into Common Stock in excess of 2% of the shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding on a fully diluted basis at the Closing, excluding the Management Stock Option below.

In the event of a liquidation, the Preferred Stockholders shall receive a cash payment of $1.20 per preferred share.

Preferred Stock Issuances

The Company has sold 5,350,000 shares of redeemable convertible Preferred Stock at a price of $1.00 per share for total gross proceeds of $5,350,000.  In February 2010, as a condition of the Long Term Loan financing, the Company repurchased 500,000 shares of preferred stock as part of its $2.5 million loan agreement with the Lender (See Note 13, Long Term Debt).  The Company paid a total of $500,000 for the repurchased shares.

The Company issued 15,000 shares of preferred stock in exchange for consulting services during fiscal year ended May 31, 2007 and another 151,400 shares of preferred stock was issued to certain shareholders in consideration of their participation in the Bridge and Term Loans which they collectively made to the Company during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2010.  The Company recorded an expense of $151,400 in connection with these shares.

The number of preferred shares issued as dividends from their initial sale in August 2007 through November 30, 2009 (the date upon which the dividends were deemed terminated) is 1,402,760.  In March 2011, a preferred shareholder converted 13,500 shares of preferred stock at the conversion price of $.30 per share into 45,000 shares of common stock.   As of May 31, 2011, the total number of preferred shares outstanding is 6,405,660.

Common Stock Issuances

In June 2009, the Company issued 125,000 shares of common stock to one of its employees vesting over two years.  The company recorded deferred compensation of $36,250 in connection with these shares.

In December 2009, the Company issued 110,000 shares of common stock to each of two directors for their agreement to serve as board members.  The company recorded an expense of $24,200 in connection with these shares.

In December 2009, the Company issued 50,000 shares of common stock to one of its employees vesting over two years.  The company recorded deferred compensation of $5,500 in connection with these shares.
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In December 2009 and February 2010, the Company issued 60,000 and 25,000 shares of common stock, respectively, to two consultants for services rendered.  The company recorded an expense of $6,975 in connection with these shares.

In February 2010, the Company canceled 200,000 shares of common stock which had been issued to employees whose employment terminated prior to the completion of vesting. The company therefore has reversed all deferred compensation expenses of ($91,053) in connection with these shares.

In February 2010, the Company issued 9,275,000 shares of common stock to a lender in connection with a loan to the company totaling $2.5 million.  The company recorded total debt discount of $463,750 and interest expense of $38,646 in connection with these shares.

In February 2010, the Company issued 6,375,000 shares of common stock to its chairman and chief executive officer and cancelled its existing stock option agreement with the officer in connection with an amended and restated employment agreement which provides, in pertinent part, for a term extension of three years.  The stock shall be fully vested but the officer shall be restricted from selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of more than 2,125,000 shares of said stock in each successive twelve month period commencing February 22, 2010.  The Company recorded deferred compensation of $318,750 and an expense of $26,563 in connection with these shares.

In July 2010, the Company issued 50,000 shares of common stock to each of seven directors for a total of 350,000 shares for their agreement to serve as board members.  The company recorded an expense of $24,200 in connection with these shares over a one year amortization period.

In October, 2010, the Company issued a total of 65,000 shares of common stock to two employees. The company has record an expense of $38,786 in connection with these shares over a one year amortization period.

In December 2010, 25,000 shares of common stock previously issued to an employee were cancelled.

In March 2011, a preferred shareholder converted 13,500 shares of preferred stock at the conversion rate of $.30 per share for which the shareholder received 45,000 shares of common stock.

Stock Option

At the time the Company acquired Artisanal Cheese LLC (during fiscal year ended May 31, 2008), the Company offered Mr. Daniel W. Dowe and Mr. William Feeney of 5,100,000 of management stock options so as to encourage them to serve as Chairman/CEO and President of the Company, respectively.  Specifically, the  Company offered them five-year management stock options having an exercise price of $.30 per share that are exercisable into approximately 12% and 8%, respectively, of the Company’s common stock on a fully-diluted basis.  The options were not exercisable unless the Company (a) achieved $21.6 million in revenue or $2 million EBITDA in a full calendar year by no later than 2009 and (b) redeemed 2,125,000 shares of the preferred stock.  When Mr. Feeney resigned as President in January 2009, and Mr. Dowe assumed Mr. Feeney’s duties, the board voted at its meeting on January 31, 2009 to adjust the aforementioned percentages to 14.4% and 1.9%, respectively, recognizing Mr. Feeney’s contribution toward the acquisition of Artisanal Cheese LLC and his continued contribution as a consultant to the Company.  The board subsequently extended the date to achieve projected revenue to December 31, 2010.  In February 2010, Mr. Dowe's and Mr. Feeney's stock options were canceled.
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At its board meeting on April 9, 2008, the board authorized three-year stock options to each of the seven non-managing board members totaling 770,000 stock options.  The options had an exercise price of $.30 per share that is exercisable into 0.4% of the Company’s Common Stock. These options expired on January 31, 2011.

On or about February 11, 2011, the Company entered a marketing and distribution agreement with KeHE Distributors pursuant to which the Company is obligated to issue stock options subject to KeHE achieving the purchase thresholds as set forth below:

Cumulative Purchases by KeHE    Shares Earned/
Cumulative Ownership

$500,000 by the first anniversary 468,000
$2,500,000 by the second anniversary   1,972,000
$6,000,000 by the third anniversary      2,440,000 
Total 4,880,000

The total number of shares represents 9.99% of the Company’s common stock outstanding on a fully-diluted basis. The respective stock options which will have an exercise period of three years from the date of issuance at an exercise price of $.30 per share.  During May 2011, the Company amended the vesting terms of these options, whereby 440,000 of such options were vested and the remainder of such options issued vested post year end. The Company is currently re-negotiating the vesting terms of the 4,440,000 options vesting post year end.
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A summary of the activity of stock options for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Stock Options Exercise Price

Outstanding Exercisable Outstanding Exercisable
Balance – May 31, 2009 5,870,000 770,000 $ .30 $ .30
Granted Fiscal Year 2010 - - - -
Exercised Fiscal Year 2010 - - - -
Canceled Fiscal Year 2010 (5,100,000 ) - - -
Balance – May 31, 2010 770,000 770,000 .30 .30
Granted Fiscal Year 2011 4,880,000 440,000 .30 .30
Exercised Fiscal Year 2011 - - - -
Canceled Fiscal Year 2011 (770,000 ) (770,000 ) (.30 ) (.30 )
Balance – May 31, 2011 4,880,000 440,000 $ .30 $ .30

The intrinsic value of the Company’s options outstanding during the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $0 and $0, respectively.

Information, at date of issuance, regarding stock option grants for the year ended May 31, 2011:

Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Fair
Value

Year ended May 31, 2011:
  Exercise price exceeds market price 4,880,000 $ .30 $ .065
  Exercise price equals market price - - -
  Exercise price is less than market price - - -

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at May 31, 2011:

Number
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Life in
Years

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

Range of exercise prices:
$.01 to $.50 4,880,000 3 $.30 440,000
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15.           COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCY

                As of May 31, 2010 and May 31, 2009, the company has the following commitments and contingencies:

Term Agreement Monthly Expense
8/15/07 – 8/14/12 Preferred Vendor Agreement (a) n/a
8/15/07 – 8/14/12 Product Development Agreement (b) n/a
8/15/07 – 8/14/12 Trademark Assignment (c) n/a
9/28/07 – 9/27/12 Lease Agreement (d) $ 23,650

a. The Company has entered into a five-year Preferred Vendor Agreement with two restaurant establishments owned by the former member of Artisanal Cheese, LLC, pursuant to which the Company will supply the restaurants or their affiliates with any and all premium cheese products at a high volume discount and at prices not to exceed prices offered to other customers, and the restaurants are to purchase exclusively from the Company provided the Company can meet terms and conditions acceptable to the restaurants.  The Preferred Vendor Agreement also provides for a credit to the restaurant establishments which credit shall be applied to the first $228,000 worth of product, not to exceed $57,000 in any calendar quarter.  This credit is the result of the payoff in full at the closing of Artisanal by one of its former members of a certain loan to the Company.  (See Note 8, Notes Payable).

b. The Company has entered into a five-year Product Development Agreement pursuant to which the Company shall have a “first-look” right and 30-day exclusivity period to evaluate and negotiate in good faith a distribution arrangement (including minimum orders, exclusivity, prices/royalty rates and terms) for all new cheeses, cheese related products and other products developed by the two restaurant establishments owned by the former member of Artisanal Cheese, LLC.  After the 30-day exclusivity period, the Company will have an opportunity to match any terms and conditions of a distribution agreement that the restaurants may subsequently reach with a third party.  The Agreement provides for a written trademark license from the Company to the restaurants upon terms to be mutually agreed upon with respect to any distribution by the restaurants under the Artisanal brand of such new products other than distribution by the Company.

c. The Company has entered into a Trademark License Agreement pursuant to which the Company granted a royalty-free license to the two restaurant establishments to use the trade name “Artisanal Fromagerie & Bistro” and the derivative logo (consisting of an oval design with four stylized sheep seated in front of a barn and the words “Artisanal Fromagerie – Bistro – Wine Bar”) in connection with the operation, distribution and sale of cheese, cheese products and other food products from the restaurant establishments or their affiliated restaurants or retail stores.  In October 2009 this mark was assigned to the Licensees in accordance with the agreement.
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d. Upon closing the acquisition of Artisanal Cheese LLC in August 2007, the Company negotiated a new five-year lease for approximately 10,000 square feet commencing September 28, 2007, subject to rent increase of approximately ten percent per annum. The current lease payment is approximately $23,500 per month.  The leased space consists of all executive and sales offices, five cheese aging caves, a packaging and shipping facility, a customer call center and a 1,000 square foot cheese center consisting of a fully-equipped kitchen, classroom and presentation area with two large flat screen television panels used for conducting cheese education courses and third-party special events.  From this facility the business distributes its line of Artisanal Premium Cheese products to fine food wholesalers, specialty food outlets, restaurants and through its catalogue and Website.

The Company's subsidiary is currently involved in a couple of legal proceedings that are incidental to its operations.  None of these proceedings may have, or have had in the 12 months preceding the date of this report, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Company or its subsidiary:

CIT Technology Financing Services, Inc. v. Artisanal Cheese, LLC, New York Supreme Court (New York), Index No. 06159/10 – Plaintiff sought approximately $107,000 pursuant to two copier leases.  The Company negotiated a settlement with plaintiff to resume monthly payments for the copiers.

Christopher Calise and Perry Lerner v. Artisanal Cheese, LLC, New York Supreme Court (New York County), Index No. 5073/2010.  Plaintiffs each loaned $50,000 to the Company on or about July 10, 2009.  In June 2010, they commenced an action for unpaid interest and requesting acceleration of the loan.  The Company negotiated a settlement with plaintiffs to pay off the note by December 31, 2011.

Central Business Solutions v. Artisanal Cheese, LLC New York City Civil Court (New York County), Index No. 043515/2010.  Plaintiff is seeking approximately $13,000 for equipment maintenance services.  The Company rejects Plaintiff's claim in full and has counterclaimed for damages resulting from Plaintiff's breach of contract, misrepresentation and fraud.

16.           RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The wife of Daniel W. Dowe, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, periodically provides legal and administrative services to the Company. For the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, Mrs. Dowe received $65,000 and $60,000, respectively for legal and administrative services performed throughout the year.

Beginning in July 2008, one of the Company’s directors, Jeffrey Roberts, began providing consulting services to the Company.  Effective January 2009, Mr. Roberts received a monthly fee of $2400 plus expenses. Mr. Roberts meets with various cheese producers throughout the United States to find new products and, in particular, products to be sold exclusively under the Company’s brand.  For the years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, Mr. Roberts received approximately $0 and $7,367, respectively, for his services and out-of-pocket expenses.

F-31

Edgar Filing: FreightCar America, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 65



With respect to the foregoing transactions, the Company believes that the terms of these transactions were as fair to the Company as could be obtained from an unrelated third party.  Future transactions with affiliates including loans will be on terms no less favorable than could be obtained from unaffiliated parties and will be approved by a majority of the independent disinterested members of the board of directors.

17.           SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

For the period June 1, 2011 through September 9, 2011, the Company sold 630,000 shares of preferred stock to three investors for a total of $630,000.  An additional 277,544 shares of preferred stock were issued in lieu of interest due to two debt holders.

For the period June 1, 2011 through September 9, 2011, the long-term loan was increased by $200,000 for which the lender received 50,000 shares of preferred stock.

The Company is in negotiations to modify the vesting terms of the remaining 4,440,000 of options not vested at May 31, 2011 and extend the due date of $250,000 of related debt to KeHe.
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PART II - INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13.                      Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

The estimated expenses payable by us in connection with the distribution of the securities being registered are as follows:

SEC Registration and Filing Fee $ 150
Legal Fees and Expenses* 10000
Accounting Fees and Expenses* 7000
Financial Printing*
Transfer Agent Fees* 3000
Blue Sky Fees and Expenses* 15000
Miscellaneous*        4500
TOTAL $ 39,650

*           Estimated

Item 14.                      Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that we will indemnify our officers, directors, and persons serving in certain capacities at the request of the board or officer of Artisanal to the fullest extent legally permissible under the laws of the state of New York.  The right of indemnification is not exclusive of any rights to which any person seeking indemnification may otherwise be entitled.  The Certificate of Incorporation further permits Artisanal to adopt Bylaws, or enter into one or more agreements with any person, which provide for indemnification that is greater than that which is provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or the applicable New York Business Corporation Law that is in effect.

Our By-Laws provide that the Artisanal will indemnify any person who is or was involved in any manner or is threatened to be involved in any threatened, pending, or completed investigation, claim, action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (a “Proceeding”) by reason of the fact that such person is, was or had agreed to become a Director, officer, employee, or agent of our company, or is or was serving at the request of the Board or an officer of Artisanal, whether for profit or not for profit for anything done or not by such person in such capacity, against all expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement by such person in connection with the Proceeding. This indemnification will be a contract right and will include the right, upon proper and sufficient notice (using the procedures set forth in our By-Laws), to receive payment in advance of all reasonable expenses incurred by in connection with the proceeding, consistent with applicable law.

The effect of these provisions of our certificate of incorporation, as amended, and bylaws, is to eliminate our rights and our shareholders (through shareholders' derivative suits on behalf of Artisanal) to recover damages against a director or officer for breach of the fiduciary duty of care as a director or officer (including breaches resulting from negligent or grossly negligent behavior), except under certain situations defined by statute. We believe that the indemnification provisions in our articles of incorporation, as amended, and bylaws, are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers.

Under the New York Law and our articles of incorporation, as amended, and bylaws, our directors will have no personal liability to us or our stockholders for monetary damages incurred as the result of the breach or alleged breach by a director of his duty of care. This provision does not apply to the directors (i) for breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation of its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) for unlawful payment of dividends or unlawful purchase or redemption of its capital stock, or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.
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Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling us pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.

Item 15.                      Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the past three years, we have sold the following securities which were not registered under the Securities Act:

In connection with these issuances, we have relied upon the exemption from securities registration afforded by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. No advertising or general solicitation was employed in offering the securities. The offerings and sales were made to a limited number of persons, all of whom were accredited investors, business associates of Artisanal or executive officers of Artisanal. The certificates representing such shares were issued with a legend restricting their transferability absent registration or applicable exemption.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Issuances

Artisanal issued to preferred shareholders a total of 174,639 shares of preferred stock representing the preferred stock dividends through the quarter ended February 28, 2009.

In April and May 2009, four existing preferred shareholders made additional equity investments totaling $250,000 for which these investors received 250,000 shares of our preferred stock.

Artisanal issued to preferred shareholders a total of 179,139 shares of preferred stock representing the preferred stock dividends through the quarter ended May 31, 2009.

We  issued 151,400 shares of preferred stock to certain shareholders in consideration of their participation in the Bridge and Term Loans which they collectively made to Artisanal during the period July 2009 through February 2010.   As part of the term loan transaction, 200,000 shares of preferred stock were returned to us by three preferred shareholders who rescinded subscription agreements they had entered  in May 2009 electing instead to participate in the term loan agreement.

Artisanal issued to preferred shareholders a total of 107,383 shares of preferred stock representing the preferred stock dividends through the quarter ended August 31, 2009.

We issued to preferred shareholders a total of 160,660 shares of preferred stock representing the preferred stock dividends through the quarter ended November 30, 2009.

In February 2010, an existing preferred shareholder made an additional equity investment of $100,000 for which he received 100,000 shares of preferred stock.

In February 2010, Artisanal repurchased 500,000 shares of preferred stock as a condition to its $2.5 million long term financing agreement with the Lender.  We paid a total of $500,000 for the repurchased shares.

In March 2011, a preferred shareholder converted 13,500 shares of preferred stock at the conversion price of $.30 per share into 45,000 shares of common stock.
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During the quarter ended August 31, 2011, several private investors made equity investments totaling $430,250 for which these investors received 430,250 shares of our  preferred stock.

During the quarter ended August 31, 2011, we  issued a secured lender 277,544 shares of our  preferred stock in lieu of a cash payment of interest owed on his loan totaling $277,544.

In August 2011, Artisanal issued 50,000 shares of preferred stock to a lender in connection with a loan to us of $200,000.

In September 2011, two preferred shareholders converted a total of 263,300 shares of preferred stock at the conversion rate of $.30 per share for which they received a total of 877,666 shares of common stock.

During the quarter ended November 30, 2011, one private investor made an investment of $370,000 for which he received 370,000 shares of our  preferred stock.

Common Stock Issuances

In June 2009, we issued 125,000 shares of common stock to one of our employees vesting over two years.  We recorded deferred compensation of $36,250 in connection with these shares.

In December 2009, we issued 110,000 shares of common stock to each of two directors for their agreement to serve as board members.  We recorded an expense of $24,200 in connection with these shares.

In December 2009, we issued 50,000 shares of common stock to one of our employees vesting over two years.  We recorded deferred compensation of $5,500 in connection with these shares.

In December 2009 and February 2010, Artisanal issued a total of 85,000 shares of common stock to two consultants for services rendered.  We recorded an expense of $6,975 in connection with these shares.

In February 2010, we canceled 200,000 shares of common stock which had been issued to employees whose employment terminated prior to the completion of vesting. We reversed the expense of $91,053 in connection with these shares.

In February 2010, Artisanal  issued 9,275,000 shares of common stock to a lender in connection with his $2.5 million loan to Artisanal.  We recorded a total debt discount of $463,750 and interest expense of $38,646 in connection with these shares.

In February 2010, we issued 6,375,000 shares of common stock to our chairman and chief executive officer and cancelled our existing stock option agreement with him in connection with an amended and restated employment agreement providing for a three-year extension.  The stock is  fully vested but he is restricted from selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of more than 2,125,000 shares in each successive twelve month period commencing February 22, 2010.  We recorded a deferred compensation of  $26,563 in connection with these shares over a three-year amortization period.

In July 2010, we issued 350,000 shares of common stock to our seven directors for their agreement to serve as board members.  We recorded an expense of $24,200 in connection with these shares over a one year amortization period.

In October, 2010, we issued a total of 65,000 shares of common stock to two employees. We have recorded an expense of $38,786 in connection with these shares over a one year amortization period.
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In December 2010, 25,000 shares of common stock previously issued to an employee were cancelled.

In March 2011, a preferred shareholder converted 13,500 shares of preferred stock at the conversion price of $.30 per share into 45,000 shares of common stock.

In September 2011, two preferred shareholders converted a total of 263,300 shares of preferred stock at the conversion rate of $.30 per share for which they received a total of 877,666 shares of common stock.

In October 2011, we issued a total of 155,000 shares of common stock to three employees. We  recorded an expense of $75,950 in connection with these shares over a one year amortization period.

Stock Option Issuances

On or about February 11, 2011, Artisanal entered a marketing and distribution agreement with KeHE Distributors pursuant to which we were obligated to issue up to 4,880,000 stock options in specified tranches subject to KeHE achieving certain purchase thresholds.  During May 2011, we amended the vesting terms of these options, whereby 440,000 of the options were immediately vested and the remainder vested after our fiscal year end. The respective stock options have an exercise period of three years from the date of issuance and an exercise price of $.30 per share.

In September 2011, we issued a total of 550,000 stock options to five board members to replace those options which expired earlier in the year.  The stock options have an exercise period of three years from the date of issuance and an exercise price of $.30 per share.  We have recorded an expense of $20,420 in connection with these options.
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Item 16.                      Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following Exhibits are filed as part of this Registration Statement as noted:

Exhibit No.                      Document Description                                                                                                                  

3.1+ Certificate of Incorporation of Artisanal Brands, Inc., as amended and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of New York.

3.2+ By-Laws

4.7 Certificate of Designation for Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 of our Report on Form 10-K for the period ended May 31, 2008)

4.8 Stock Subscription and Investment Representation Agreement Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 of our Report on Form 10-K for the period ended May 31, 2008)

4.9+ Form of Subscription Agreement relating to this Offering

5.4* Opinion of Janet L. Dowe, Counsel for the Registrant, as to the legality of the Securities being registered

10.21 $150,000 Bridge Note dated July 10, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended August 31, 2009)

10.22 Security Agreement relating to Bridge Note dated July 10, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended August 31, 2009)

10.23 $850,000 Promissory Note dated July 10, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended August 31, 2009)

10.24 Security Agreement relating to Term Loan dated July 10, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended August 31, 2009)

10.27 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Registrant and Daniel W. Dowe (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended February 28, 2010)

10.28 Loan Agreement  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended February 28, 2010)

10.29 Security Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended February 28, 2010)

10.30 Promissory Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of our Report on Form 10-KSB for the period ended February 28, 2010)

10.31 First Supplemental Promissory Note dated September 1, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of our Report on Form 10-K for the period ended May 31, 2011)
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10.32 Second Supplementary Promissory Note dated November 1, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.32 of our Report on Form 10-K for the period ended May 31, 2011)

10.33 Third Supplemental Promissory Note dated November 2, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of our Report on Form 10-K for the period ended May 31, 2011)

10.34 Marketing and Distribution Agreement dated February 11, 2011 and Addendum dated
May 9, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of our Report on Form 10-K for the period ended May 31, 2011)

10.35 Fourth Supplemental Promissory Note dated May 27, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of our Report on Form 10-KB for the period ended May 31, 2011)

10.36+ Fifth Supplemental Promissory Note dated August 8, 2011

10.37+ Sixth Supplemental Promissory Note dated February 2, 2012

21.1+ Subsidiaries of Registrant

23.2* Consent of Sherb & Co., LLP., Certified Public Accountants

23.3 Consent of Janet L. Dowe, Esq., Counsel to Registrant (included in Exhibit 5.4 of this Registration Statement)

Exhibit 101.INS** XBRL Instance

Exhibit 101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

Exhibit 101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

Exhibit 101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

Exhibit 101.LAB**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels

Exhibit 101.PRE**    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

*            Filed Herewith
+            Filed as an exhibit to the Form S-1 filed on April 13, 2012.
**         XBRL information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 of the securities act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the securities Exchange act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.

Item 17.                      Undertakings

A.           The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1)           To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i)      To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii)                 To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement; and

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

(2)           That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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(3)           To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4)           Intentionally omitted.

(5)           That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:

(i)           Intentionally omitted.

(ii)           If the registrant is subject to Rule 430C, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.

(6)           That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities:

The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

(i)           Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424.

(ii)           Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;

(iii)           The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

(iv)           Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

B.           Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of New York, State of New York, on May 17, 2012.

Artisanal Brands, Inc.

/ss/ Daniel W. Dowe                                           
By: Daniel W. Dowe
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

/ss/ Gary J. Allen                                
By: Gary J. Allen
Senior Corporate Controller and
Principal Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/ss/ Daniel W. Dowe
Daniel W. Dowe

Chairman, President, CEO and CFO                                                                
Title

May 17, 2012                                
Date

/ss/ William K. Lavin                                           
William K. Lavin

Director                 
Title

May 17, 2012                                
Date
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/ss/ Keith DeMatteis                                           
Keith DeMatteis

Director                 
Title

May 17, 2012                                
Date

/ss/ John Nesbett                                
John Nesbett

Director                 
Title

May 17, 2012                                
Date

/ss/ Donald Moriarty                                           
Donald Moriarty

Director                 
Title

May 17, 2012                                
Date

/ss/ Jeffrey Roberts                                
Jeffrey Roberts

Director                 
Title

May 17, 2012                                
Date

/ss/ Thomas J. Thornton, Jr.                                                      
Thomas J. Thornton, Jr.

Director                 
Title

May 17, 2012                                
Date
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